

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Implementation of an Electronic Health Record-Keeping System

Deborah Jean Kilgore Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Deborah Jean Kilgore

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Kenneth Gossett, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Edgar Jordan, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janet Booker, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Implementation of an Electronic Health Record-Keeping System

by

Deborah Jean Kilgore

MS, Walden University, 2009

BS, Franklin University, 1988

AS, Columbus Technical Institute, 1977

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2020

Abstract

In 2015, only 15% of behavior health hospitals in the United States had been converted from paper charting systems to electronic health records (EHRs) systems. Healthcare managers are concerned about the lack of EHRs because they need to meet mandated federal requirements to implement EHR systems. Using the technology acceptance model, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to identify strategies behavioral healthcare managers use to adopt their EHR system. The participants consisted of 5 behavioral healthcare managers working in a chemical dependency treatment facility located in the U.S. Midwest. Data were collected from semistructured interviews, a review of notes, and a review of company policies. Data were analyzed using the modified van Kaam method. Three themes emerged: effortlessness of use, adoption efficiency, and transformational leadership behavior. A key recommendation is that behavioral healthcare managers evaluate their management style and consider transformational leadership techniques to motivate followers through the change management workflow process. Healthcare managers, using EHR systems, can benefit from increased workplace efficiency, improved quality of patient care, and reduction of expenses for a healthcare facility.

Implementation of an Electronic Health Record-Keeping System

by

Deborah Jean Kilgore

MS, Walden University, 2009
BS, Franklin University, 1988
AS, Columbus Technical Institute, 1977

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2020

Dedication

Enter, into his gates with thanksgiving, and into his courts with praise! Be thankful unto him and bless his name. For the Lord is good, his mercy is everlasting; and his truth endureth to all generations (Ps100: 4-5).

First, I give all praises to my Lord and Savior Jesus the Christ, for providing me with a way to complete my doctoral degree. Second, I dedicate this study to my mother, Betty Joe Kilgore who passed away on May 9, 2019. Bets, thank you for all your love and support during my entire life. You were my best friend and I miss you dearly. Third, I dedicate this study to my daughter, Taylor Patrice Kilgore-Barr. Taylor, I thank you for the wonderful support you gave me as I completed this study as you grew up. Fourth, I dedicate this study to my sister, Dr. Patricia Richardson. Thank you for being a positive example of what a doctoral student should be. Pat, I could not have completed this process without your love, assistance, and support. Lastly, I thank my entire family for their enduring love.

Acknowledgments

Thank you, Dr. Kenneth Gossett for your support throughout this doctoral process. I truly appreciated your direction and guidance. I know without your assistance this journey would not have been possible. I want to thank Dr Edgar Jordan and Dr. Janet Booker for your patience and assistance. Lastly, I want to thank Cassandra Bowland, my academic advisor, for all your guidance and support during the good and challenging times. Many individuals have supported, guided, and encouraged me in this journey. You know who you are, my heartfelt thanks go out to each of you.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	8
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Conceptual Framework: Technology Acceptance Model	11
Alternative Conceptual Framework	15
Leadership and Organizational Performance	15

Leadership Styles and Technology Acceptance	16
Healthcare System in the United States	23
Meaningful Use	26
Barriers to the Implementation of Electronic Health Records	31
Legislative History on Electronic Health Record Adoption	32
Transition	37
Section 2: The Project	39
Purpose Statement	39
Role of the Researcher	39
Participants	41
Research Method and Design	42
Research Method	42
Research Design	43
Population and Sampling	44
Data Saturation	45
Ethical Research	45
Consent	46
Data Collection Instruments	47
Instrument	47
Interview Method	48
Triangulation Technique	48
Case Study Protocol and Procedure Guide Process	49

Case Study Database	49
Member Checking	50
Data Collection Technique	50
Audio Recording	51
Member Checking	52
Data Organization Technique	53
Data Analysis	53
Reliability and Validity	56
Reliability	56
Dependability	56
Data Saturation	57
Member Checking	58
Validity	58
Credibility	59
Transferability	60
Confirmability	60
Transition and Summary	60
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	62
Introduction	62
Presentation of Findings	62
Theme 1: Effortlessness of Use	63
Theme 2: Adoption Efficiency	67

Theme 3: Transformational Leadership Behavior	71
Application to Professional Practice	74
Implications for Social Change	76
Recommendations for Action	77
Recommendations for Further Research	78
Reflections	78
Conclusion	79
References	81
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	105
Appendix B: Interview Questions	106
Appendix C: CITI Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative	108

List of Tables

Table 1. Effortlessness of Use	64
Table 2. Adoption Efficiency	68
Table 3. Transformational Leadership Behavior	72

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

There are significant inefficiencies in the U.S. healthcare system that includes rising costs, access barriers, lack of patient integration and coordination, and medical errors (Kuziemsky et al., 2014). However, healthcare administrators and leaders view electronic health record (EHR) systems as an opportunity to improve patient care. Basic EHR features include (a) patient history and demographics (b) patient problem list (c) physician clinical notes (d) comprehensive lists of patients' medications and allergies (e) computerized orders for prescriptions, and (f) the ability to view laboratory and imaging results electronically. Though 75% of hospital providers have transitioned to the basic EHR, smaller providers are still lagging in adoption (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015). The focus of this research was to illuminate the perceptions and experiences behavioral healthcare managers encounter during the assessing, planning, implementing, and evaluating phases of adoption of an EHR system. Business leaders can affect the business environment when they acquire the knowledge to implement a renowned software solution to provide timely, patient-centered information in a secure web environment, thereby improving patient outcomes (Davis, 1989).

Background of the Problem

In 2006, President Bush announced a goal to increase the use of technology in healthcare and to support the implementation of a nationwide EHR system (Clarke et al., 2014). Reports from the U.S. Government Accountability Office have revealed that only 48% of eligible hospitals in the United States have implemented an EHR system. The adoption of EHR in the United States falls behind many European countries (Kushniruk, Bates, Bainbridge, Househ, & Borycki, 2013).

There are several reasons for the lack of EHR implementation. For instance, many healthcare providers have a negative view of electronic record systems. Medical practitioners are also slow to implement EHR systems because of financial constraints, changes in workflow, temporary loss of productivity, and privacy and security concerns (Najaftorkaman, Ghapanchi, Talaei Khoei, & Ray, 2015). Additionally, the two most significant barriers to EHR implementation have been fear of change and lack of funding (Jarvis et al., 2013). In addition, failure of equipment or network facilities, software errors, and difficulties in operating the system contribute to temporary losses in productivity (Huerta, Harle, Ford, Diana, & Menachemi, 2016). Other barriers include the inability of matching a system to meet the specific needs of healthcare providers and the apprehension that the system will become obsolete (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015).

Problem Statement

In 2015, 80% of general medicine hospitals adopted a basic EHR system, but only 15% of behavioral health hospitals adopted a basic EHR system (Henry, Pylypchuk, Searcy, & Patel, 2016). This may be because federal subsidies for health information exchanges were implemented slowly, even though a mandate of \$30 billion in incentives was approved, and behavioral health hospitals are not eligible for the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services EHR Incentive Program (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015). The general business problem is that organizational leaders are hesitant in implementing EHR systems nationwide. The specific business problem is that some behavioral healthcare managers are unable to identify which strategies to use to successfully adopt EHR systems.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, exploratory, single case study was to identify strategies that managers in a Midwestern United States chemical dependency treatment facility used to successfully adopt an EHR system. Implementation of an EHR system may result in savings of \$14,055 per provider, or the financial equivalent of eliminating one full-time position from the administrative staff (Fleming et al., 2014). A purposeful sample of five behavioral healthcare managers working in a chemical dependency treatment facility located in the Midwestern United States participated in the study. The implications for social change resulting from this study include the potential to implement useful business practices and strategies for healthcare providers who need to successfully adopt an EHR system to meet federal requirements to improve the quality of patient care in a cost effective manner, which will also improve the quality of life for the consumers who use these services.

Nature of the Study

There are three research methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method (Turner, Kane, & Jackson, 2015). In quantitative research, information gathered from experimental and nonexperimental procedures, such as surveys, allows researchers to study trends in a sample population and generalize the data to a large sector (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Researchers can use a quantitative research model to calculate relationships between variables and the testing of hypotheses in which variables or characteristics differ among study participants (Swensen et al., 2014; Yin, 2018). Qualitative researcher investigators embed themselves in the data collection and analysis process, focusing on a single concept or phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994; Roth, Lannum, Dennison, & Towbin, 2016; Swensen et al., 2014; Yin, 2018). The mixed method approach encompasses both surveys and interviewing techniques (Anderson, 2015; Yin, 2018).

For the current study, the qualitative method allowed participants to share lived experiences and perceptions, which could influence the adoption of an EHR system in the U.S. Midwest. Researchers commonly select semistructured interview questions when collecting data (Hammarberg, Kirkman, & De Lacey, 2016). An advantage of the qualitative method allows researchers to pose *why* or *how* questions, thereby gathering rich data and thick descriptions from open-ended questions (Merriam, 2014).

In terms of design, when the researcher centers on understanding a connection to complex phenomenon, an explanatory design is appropriate (Yin, 2018). Moreover, as in the case of my research, when there is not a clear understanding of outcomes, investigators adopt an exploratory investigation to understand the phenomenon. A case study is a common form of qualitative research to explores a specific topic or evidence-based practices (Boblin, Ireland, Kirkpatrick, & Robertson, 2013; Gergen, Josselson, & Freeman, 2015; Moustakas, 1994). The case study approach allowed the data collection process to evolve in conjunction with the exchange of information between me and the participants. The case study design encompassed the use of multiple data sources to demonstrate reliability of the findings (Yin, 2018).

The narrative inquiry was not appropriate as a design for the research because the focus was not to understand conditions relating to participants living in a natural setting or their stories from a historical perspective (Clandinin, 2016). Ethnography was also not appropriate because the focus my study was not illuminating observations relating to cultural group experiences witnessed over an extended period of time (Rashid, Caine, & Goez, 2015; Yin, 2018). Further, phenomenology was not appropriate because the objective of the study was not to understand the essence of human experience in the form of lived experiences about a phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994; Quant, Sanchez-Algarra, & Anguera, 2013).

The qualitative research method and case study design is pragmatic and interpretive in nature. The strategies of inquiry allowed me to capture the perceptions and conditions concerning the participants view regarding adoption of an EHR system. A quantitative or mixed method approach would not have facilitated a comprehensive analysis within the time frame for my study.

Research Question

The overarching research question for this study was "What strategies do behavioral healthcare managers use to successfully adopt EHR systems to improve performance?"

Interview Questions

- 1. How does the EHR system function in your work environment?
- 2. How would you describe the EHR system's ease of use?
- 3. How has client care changed since adoption of the EHR system?
- 4. What were the leadership behaviors exhibited by behavioral healthcare managers that improved performance when facilitating the transition from paper to electronic records?
- 5. What would you consider optimal workflow to improve performance when transitioning from a paper charting system to an EHR system in a chemical dependency treatment facility?
- 6. What were the leadership behaviors exhibited by behavioral healthcare managers that hindered performance when transitioning from paper to electronic records?
- 7. What were the barriers or challenges to improve performance when transitioning from a paper charting system to improve performance an EHR system in a chemical dependency treatment facility?

8. What other issues do you wish to discuss regarding your experiences with the EHR implementation process?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework was the technology acceptance model (TAM) by Davis (1986). The TAM is a method used to determine the adoption or acceptance of technology and a framework that provides a foundation of how external factors influence the attitudes and intentions of individuals who implement technology (Bere, 2014). Therefore, the TAM model allows researchers to forecast behavioral patterns of individuals utilizing information systems (Davis, 1986).

Before learning new technology, individuals have the tendency to form attitudes and intentions toward the process (Bennington & Minutolo, 2013). The objective of TAM is to calculate the acceptance of information systems and to assist researchers to identify perceived usefulness (PU) and perceived ease of use (PEOU). PU and PEOU are factors that influence users' decisions about how and why people use technology (Davis, 1989). In this study, I investigated how and why users either accepted or rejected the EHR system technology. The purpose of this study was to identify the strategies that behavioral healthcare managers used to support the implementation of an EHR system.

Operational Definitions

Electronic Health Record System (EHR): An EHR is a patient health record in a digital form to include patients' demographic profile, diagnosis, medications, and treatment plan (Keshavjee et al., 2013; Ozok, Wu, Garrido, Pronovost, & Gurses, 2014).

Meaningful Use (MU): Meaningful Use is the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services's incentive program aimed to measure physician and hospital quality (Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2012; Gottlieb, Tirozzi, Manchanda, Burns, & Sandel, 2015).

Perceived Usefulness (PU): Perceived usefulness is when a person believes that using a special system will enhance their performance (Davis, 1989).

Perceived Ease-of-Use (PEOU): PEOU is when a person believes that using a special system will be free of effort (Davis, 1989).

Technology Acceptance Model (TAM): The TAM is used in information technology research to reveal causal links between users' beliefs, attitudes, and intentions (Davis, 1986).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

I made certain assumptions, limitations, and delimitations to facilitate my understanding of the research problem and eliminate potential bias of conducting a study in a familiar setting. Assumptions are true or plausible without proof (Merriam, 2014). Limitations are the potential weaknesses of a study that researchers lack control of the outcome (Kirkwood & Price, 2013). Constraints on the research design and method that affect the results of the study fall under potential limitations in research (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014). Delimitations are the definitions of the boundaries of the central research question in the study, which are under the control of the researcher (Merriam, 2014; Yin, 2018). Determining the appropriate sample size to achieve data saturation and identify the bounds of the study to maintain integrity facilitated my knowledge (Patton, 2015).

Assumptions

The primary assumption at the onset of this study was that behavioral healthcare managers had been able to successfully implement strategies to transition from a paper charting

system to a new EHR system. Another assumption was that participants in this study agreed that any proprietary information would remain confidential and the study contributors would be honest when recounting their personal experiences. They entered the study voluntarily and answered the interview questions without any fear of retribution. Finally, I assumed that interview questions did not introduce bias or social pressure into the research process.

Limitations

The research revealed the participants' experiences while transitioning from a paper-charting platform to an EHRs system. A limitation of the study is that data is not generalizable to all behavioral healthcare managers using EHR systems. The findings came from the five participants, which could be a limitation due to the small sample size. The diversity of clinical roles also posed a limitation, as each discipline requires members to hold distinctive educational and training backgrounds displaying a variety of skills.

Delimitations

The delimitations included the problem, location, sample population, and sample size for the study. The participants for this study are behavioral healthcare managers from a chemical dependency treatment facility in the U.S. Midwest. The study consisted of five behavioral healthcare managers' sharing perceptions of transitioning from a manual documentation system to an EHR. I applied triangulation methods of data collection derived from semistructured interviews, fieldwork observations, workplace documents, and company policies to ensure the trustworthiness of the data.

Significance of the Study

The U.S. adoption of EHR systems remains small among the healthcare community (Jones, Rudin, Perry, & Shekelle, 2014). The limited acceptance of EHR systems by healthcare

practitioners has caused the United States healthcare system to fall behind other developed nations (Elliott, Martin, & Neville, 2014). Inefficiencies, such as rising costs, access barriers, lack of patient integration and coordination, and medical errors have affected the United States healthcare system (Block et al., 2014). The study findings may be valuable to healthcare leaders and managers by revealing factors that behavioral healthcare managers perceive to be influential to the process of implementing an EHR system. An exploration is essential to illustrate how a surge in adoption rates by physicians and hospital administrators might affect patient care in the U.S. healthcare industry (Block et al., 2014).

Contribution to Business Practice

Exploring successful EHR implementation strategies may help healthcare business leaders in the United States become more competitive in the 21st century global market. Competitive strategies help business leaders increase profitability by reducing costs. For instance, optimizing ease of use and PU of strategies is a means for business leaders to increase profitability while reducing the inefficiency of time-consuming charting and data transmission from one facility to another or from one provider to another. Forming sustainable and transferable IT information and resources, which are difficult to create and imitate, can also help produce competitive advantages (Davis, 1989). The principal contribution to business practice is the ability to identify strategies that can be used to successfully transition from a paper charting system to an EHR platform, which provides timely, patient-centered information in a secure web environment and thus improves patient outcomes. An empirical case study concerning the implementation of EHR systems can increase the knowledge of the behavioral healthcare community to identify what managers view as the significant factors in upgrading to an EHR platform.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for social change include the potential to improve the quality of services and competitiveness of behavioral healthcare programs operating in the United States that comply with the federal directive of a national EHR initiative. Any operating system that has improved the quality of services and minimized inefficiencies can also improve business sustainability while impacting quality of life for a business's customers has implications for social change (Davis, 1989). Processes such as ease of use and PU eliminate waste by creating closed-loop feedback systems involving the inputting of data, processing of data, and retrieval of data to improve decision-making (Davis, 1989). Closed-loop feedback systems produce more efficient methods for providers to access, store, and utilize information to address patient care issues in a secure and stable environment.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The intent of the literature review was to support the conceptual framework of the TAM and to present an objective investigation of the research problem. Descriptive information concerning the emerging technology requires further empirical study. Behavioral healthcare managers need to understand what factors hinder or facilitate adoption of an optimal healthcare record system. The review of the literature revealed effective and efficient delivery of healthcare needs, while illuminating the selected organization's adoption of knowledge and a change in technology. Views illustrated the history, adoption of technology, advantages, disadvantages, and barriers to utilization of EHRs. The literature review reveals the concepts managers employ when adopting technology within the healthcare industry by examining leadership and organizational acceptance concerning EHR. The review contains six main subsections relevant in

exploring the factors healthcare managers believe influenced the adoption of an EHR system. A summary highlighting the gaps in the research will end the review of the literature.

The parameters of the search primarily included the years 2013-2018, although one article was from 1960. The sources were peer-reviewed articles from scholarly journals, scholarly books containing references to studies, and academic and business books. I conducted title searches on the following words: *innovation, technology adoption, healthcare records, leadership, leadership characteristics, decision-making,* and *EHR*. Walden University's Library was the primary source location of information drawn from ProQuest, EBSCOhost, ProQuest Dissertations and Theses, Gale Power Search, and Emerald databases. The total number of references used in this study is 178. Of the total references, 159 (89%) have publishing dates between 2013 and 2018. In the review of the professional literature, the total references equal 113. In this section, 96 references (85%) have publishing dates between 2013 and 2018. Of the 178 total references, 161 (90%) are either (a) a peer-reviewed journal (b) an academic resource book, or (c) a government article.

Conceptual Framework: Technology Acceptance Model

Models of technology acceptance relate to various conceptual perspectives to illustrate the significant perceived characteristics of technology that influence an individual to adopt the technology (Abdekhoda, Ahmadi, Gohari, & Noruzi, 2015; Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011). For example, the theory of reasoned action illuminates the intention of an individual to use technology (Abdekhoda, Ahmadi, Gohari, & Noruzi, 2015; Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011). In theory of reasoned action, the use of technology depends on the beliefs of the individual about the behavior and the perceived consequences (Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011). The theory of reasoned

action offers a rationale of why individuals intend to use technology and their actual usage of the technology.

Davis's (1986) TAM is a recognized model linked to technology acceptance and derived from theory of reasoned action, which facilitates a researcher's ability to predict the users' acceptance based on two factors: PU and PEOU. The TAM is an established model that assists individuals to explain and predict behavior using technology and could illuminate explanations of why an individual user accepts or rejects the usage of technology (Bere, 2014). The framework of TAM provides a foundation to study how external factors influence the attitude and intention of the individual to use technology (Davis, 1986). An individual's use of technology centers directly or indirectly by their attitude, PU of the system, and the system's PEOU. The external factors of TAM can influence the intention of the individual's actual use of the technology through the PU and PEOU. Davis (1989) asserted that PEOU directly affects PU, as making a system easier to use should make the system more useful.

The TAM appears to account for approximately 50% of user acceptance in different fields of study (Campbell et al., 2017; King, Patel, Jamoom, & Furukawa, 2014). Thus, the TAM is a widely used and reliable tool (King et al., 2014). In the automotive industry, researchers have used the TAM to measure employees' acceptance of technology systems. For example, Calisir, Gumussoy, Bayraktaroglu, and Karaali (2014) explored the factors that affected blue-collar workers' intention to use a web-based learning system in the pre-implementation phase of a process in the automotive industry. The authors discovered that PU is the strongest predictor of behavioral intention to use a technology system. In the field of education, the TAM has illuminated students' acceptance and usage of technology (Jan & Contreras, 2011; Teo & Noyes, 2014). Teo and Noyes (2014) indicated that TAM was a significant factor in revealing pre-

service attitudes to computer use, and Jan and Contreras (2011) found a relationship between engineering students' beliefs and user acceptance of an administrative information system (Jan & Contreras, 2011).

In the healthcare industry, the TAM has measured healthcare workers' acceptance of healthcare information systems (Aggelidis & Chatzoglou, 2012; Campbell et al., 2017; Gunawan & Huarng, 2015; King et al., 2014). For example, Aggelidis and Chatzoglou (2012) and Gunawan and Huarng (2015) noted that PU and PEOU influenced the user's intention to use information systems. Additionally, Campbell et al. (2017) examined the social influence of physicians implementing EHR systems, suggesting that role beliefs and moral norms could both encourage or discourage use. Additionally, research has shown that PU, computer experience, patient care values, and organizational support positively influences attitudes (Ozok, Wu, Garrido, Pronovost, & Gurses, 2014). Research has also shown that perceived behavioral control is a significant predictor of physicians' intentions to use an EHR (Gagnon et al., 2014). Both PU and PEOU influence the attitude of the individual toward using the technology system. Behavioral intentions are a function of both perceived usefulness and PEOU. Behavioral intention, then, reveals whether the individual will use the technology system. Thus, the TAM shows the strong influences on user intention toward technological products (Ducey & Coovert, 2016).

Perceived usefulness. PU is useful or beneficial to the user's performance (Bere, 2014). Various researchers have studied the effect of PU on the acceptance of technology. The consensus is that PU increases the acceptance of the technologies (Campbell et al., 2017; Renny, Guritno, & Siringoringo, 2016). However, Ma and Chan (2014) reported that PU was not significant for prediction of intention to use. PU, therefore, is more important than ease of use

(Campbell et al., 2017; Davis, 1989; Gunawan & Huarng, 2015; Mouakket & Al-hawari, 2012; Renny et al., 2016).

Perceived ease of use. One of the most studied characteristics of technology is the individual's PEOU. Davis (1989) asserted the extent of which the user expects the use of the technology system to be effortless. The general agreement is that technology acceptance increases when the PEOU increases (Davis, 1989; Wahab, Shamsuddin, Abdullah, & Hamid, 2016). PEOU has become the sole determinant to the prediction of intention to use (Ma & Chan, 2014). Further, there may be intrinsically motivational variables that predict PEOU such as individuals using online sellers when they do not have access to concern security information (Cheng, Tsai, Chenge, & Chan, 2012).

Perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. A comparison of the effects of PU and PEOU on attitudes of technological adoption has revealed that PU is more significant for attitudes following adoption (Cheng et al., 2012; Wong, 2013). The user's decision to use the technology system initially is subject to the individual's PEOU (Calisir, Gumussoy, Bayraktaroglu, & Karaali, 2014; Campbell et al., 2017; Davis, 1989; Wahab et al., 2016; Wong, 2013). For example, Joo, Lim, and Kim (2016) investigated the structural relationships of PU and PEOU of online learning tools and student satisfaction in an online university in South Korea and found that PU and PEOU were significant predictors of learner satisfaction. Wong (2013) also examined the effect of PU and PEOU on behavioral intention to use mobile check-in for airlines services and revealed the individual's attitude had a perfect mediation role between behavioral intention and PU, indicating that PEOU was insignificant to both behavioral intention and attitude in technology acceptance.

Alternative Conceptual Framework

The institutional choice framework is an alternative conceptual framework that can be used to explore strategies that lead to a successful transition from an older paper and pencil health record system to a compliant EHR system. The institutional choice framework conceptual framework was developed by Elinor Ostrom and builds on the assumption that acknowledging institutional cultures and rules constrains the decision-making capabilities and social behaviors of individuals or groups, which the framework calls agents (Ostrom, 2014; Tchuigoua, 2014). Institutional choice framework researchers can examine the interactions among institutional structures, agent decision-making processes, and material resources determine if incentives and disincentives of PU or PEOU change the agent's behaviors (Yousafzai, Saeed, & Muffatto, 2015). Using the institutional choice framework to conduct the study to explore strategies that lead to a successful transition from an older EHR system to a compliant EHR system is a valid choice. However, this study is about the adoption of technology; therefore, the TAM was a better choice for exploring the research question.

Leadership and Organizational Performance

An association exists between leadership styles and employee performance. Leadership styles can indicate the type of employees who excel in an organization. Highly motivated employees working in competitive companies have leaders who value and recognize an individual's contribution to the business. Effective leaders exhibit positive characteristics, such as providing exceptional judgment, motivating staff, and fostering engagement to achieve workforce efficiency in the adoption and use of technology in the workplace (Chalofsky & Cavallaro, 2013; Twenge, & Donnelly, 2016).

Researchers have examined the association between leadership and performance and confirmed that leadership is a driving force in the performance of an organization (Cianci, Hannah, Roberts, & Tsakumis, 2014; Garcia-Morales et al. 2012). An affirmative level of accomplishment regarding staffing, training, performance assessment, and system of compensation led to positive leadership behaviors. García-Morales et al. (2012) claimed that leaders translate a vision to one's subordinates and influence employees' commitment, motivation, and trust, which enhance organizational performance.

Effective leadership is a management strategy used to improve business performance (Hoch & Kozlowski, 2014), where leaders provide working norms that uphold collective actions and add value to team performance (Leuty & Hansen, 2014). Strategies that employ leadership behavior that improve human resource and development achieve optimum results (Twenge & Donnelly, 2016).

Leadership Styles and Technology Acceptance

There are diverse types of leadership styles such as autocratic, bureaucratic, democratic, laissez-faire, transformational, and transactional. The styles of leadership have evolved because of the demands of global organizational development. Understanding the frameworks can assist leaders to increase organizational efficiency (Mitchell, 2013).

Autocratic leadership. This style emerged from the classical approach to organizational management when decision-making and commanding performance became highly centralized (Merat & Bo, 2013). Autocratic leadership is the personality of an authoritarian individual that has a strong and negative impact on employees (Schuh, Zhang, & Tian, 2013). In this leadership style, inputs from followers or staff are not accepted. The leadership style also holds a structured set of rewards and punishments to enforce the leader's ideas and judgements and rarely accept

advice from others (Gonzalez et al., 2014). Many researchers have argued that an autocratic leadership style resembles a dictatorship (Hickie et al., 2014). Autocratic leadership is often effective for situations in which there are recently hired and untrained employees who have a limited understanding for decision-making (Gonzalez et al., 2014). But autocratic leadership is not effective in an organization in which employees are emotionally distressed and suffer from low morale (Hickie et al., 2014).

Autocratic leadership can be problematic in the workforce. Autocratic leaders make decisions quickly and without the need to consult others (Till, Jones, & McKimm, 2015), as some projects require strong leadership to accomplished tasks quickly and efficiently. When the leader is the most knowledgeable person in the group, the autocratic style can bring facilitate effective decisions (Carnes, Bartels, Kaatz, & Kolehmainen, 2015). However, an autocratic leader allows group members to focus on performing rather than worrying about complex decisions, overlooking the knowledge and expertise of other group participants and making decisions without consulting the others. The lack of involvement by other group participants can cause resentment, hurt feelings, and lower morale. Although an expert leader can make decisions without wasting time consulting others, this style works best when balanced with other leadership styles (Carnes et al., 2015).

Bureaucratic leadership. Bureaucratic leadership is the by-the-book management style when the actions of leaders follow procedures (Renko, El Tarabishy, Carsrud, & Brännback, 2015). This leadership style signifies official duties under a hierarchy of authority, applying a system of rules for management and decision-makers (Renko et al., 2015). The bureaucratic leader style is effective for routine tasks, security training, understanding standards and procedures, and performing detailed tasks. The style can be an efficient management approach

when business outcomes do not require much creativity or innovation from employees. Standardization and best practices are often highlighted in companies with large organizational structures, ensuring that work is consistent, efficient, and effective (Renko et al., 2015). However, bureaucratic leadership is sometimes not effective, as employees usually receive less job satisfaction in rigid bureaucratic organizations (Renko et al., 2015). Thus, a bureaucratic leader's style can discourage visionary and creative workers.

Laissez-faire leadership. Laissez-faire leadership is a hands-off style of management requiring the followers to have control regarding goal setting, decision-making, and problem solving (Alkahtani, 2015). Employees are independent of their superiors concerning the decisions and authority, and the leader is usually uninvolved with employees. Laissez-faire leadership is effective when employees are skilled, experienced and educated, and have the inner drive to do work successfully (Alkahtani, 2015). The employees of the laissez-faire leader can self-monitor, problem solve, and produce successful products (van Prooijen & de Vries, 2016). The laissez-faire leader trusts staff to accomplish tasks with minimal guidance.

Conversely, laissez-faire leadership is not ideal in situations when group members lack the knowledge or experience needed to complete tasks and make decisions products (van Prooijen & de Vries, 2016). Laissez-faire style is not effective if employees cannot perform the job independently without the guidance of superiors (Alkahtani, 2015). The style is not suited to environments in which the members require feedback, direction, oversight, flexibility, or praise.

Democratic leadership. Democratic leadership style is known as the participative leadership approach, as leaders encourage employees to take a participative role in the decision-making process (Chiba, Johnson, & Leeds, 2015). Researchers have noted the democratic leadership style is one of the most effective forms of leadership when leaders value the

collaboration and affirmation of the employees (Fashola, Akanni, & Ajila, 2016). The leader empowers employees to manage organizations. The democratic leader assists the employees to set goals, implement the process, and evaluate their performance while supporting them in their promotions and advancements (Chiba et al., 2015).

Democratic leadership is mostly successful for highly skilled or experienced employees and is effective in an organization or situation requiring extensive input or ideas from employees (Merat & Bo, 2013). The democratic style of leadership is also most effective when resolving problems either individually or within the group (Fong, Mulok, & Sumilan, 2015). The style affords the leader with talent and strengths, which benefits the organization. During operational change, democratic style is useful (Fashola et al., 2016).

Despite its advantages, the democratic style of leadership has a disadvantage. Managers must make immediate decisions when it is not feasible to gain everyone's ideas, input, or acceptance. Employees still appreciate the chance to learn the reason that prompted the change in practice, but leaders should not apologize for making the decisions that ultimately could affect employees. The democratic leader must be comfortable forging a path of action with conviction for the betterment of the business (Fashola et al., 2016).

Transformational leadership. Transformational leadership involves motivating followers via the alignment of one's self-interests to organizational goals (Alkahtani, 2015). Transformational leadership is a combination of idealized attributes and behaviors, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Alkahtani, 2015). The style originates from the personal values and beliefs of the leaders that drive the followers to achieve more than what is expected (Wahab, Rahmat, Yusof, & Mohamed, 2016). The interplay between the leader and followers' results in increased levels of motivation and morality on both

sides. An organization can reach its maximum human and organizational capabilities through transformational leadership. Shurbagi and bin Zahari (2012) examined whether transformational leadership could influence job satisfaction among 50 employees of Libya's national oil corporation. The authors used organizational culture as a moderating variable that could influence leaders and consequently influence satisfaction towards one's work. The results of the study indicated that transformational leadership behaviors and the satisfaction of employees relate to organizational culture. The study reflected that high positive culture embodied in an organization caused high predictability that job satisfaction and development of transformational behaviors would emerge (Shurbagi & bin Zahari, 2012).

Lapierre, Naidoo, and Bonaccio (2012) examined the transformational leadership style within the domain of the mentoring process of leaders to followers. The authors investigated leader-follower dyads to determine whether career support and psychosocial support of leaders to followers improve the performance of the followers. The results of the study revealed that followers who received higher levels of mentoring from leaders have higher levels of task performance. Lapierre et al. (2012) reported that psychosocial support of leaders had no effect on the performance of followers.

Riaz and Khalili (2014) ensured employees perceived career importance and transformational leadership styles of leaders in the banking industry of Pakistan. Employees' perception of the importance of their career is a necessary indicator of job performance and consequently the performance of the organization (Riaz & Khalili, 2014). Riaz and Khalili used the MLQ to determine the leadership behaviors in four domains (i.e., idealized influence, intellectual stimulation, inspirational motivation, and individualized considerations). Riazand and Khalili reported there was a total response rate of 80% from the 350 surveys distributed to

bank leaders. The findings of the study reflected that transformational behaviors of leaders do not correlate to work and career.

appealing to one's self-interest leading employees to a result-driven and reward-oriented structure (Alkahtani, 2015). Leaders operating under the transactional leadership paradigm focus on task completion and reward and punishment systems to achieve organizational goals (Wahab et al., 2016). The driving force behind the transactional leadership approach seems to occur because employees focus on a performance reward system designed for employees to meet organizational goals. Transactional leadership follows the bureaucratic approach in the sense that everyone should conform to the rules or suffer punishment (Wahab et al., 2016).

Rowold (2014) posited that transactional leaders as those who focus on the motivation of followers through rewards or discipline. The author associated the style with the transactional exchanges between a leader and a follower, in which implicit bargaining motivates the followers to perform. Ralston et al. (2015) claimed that leaders who exhibit the characteristics of a transactional leader see to it that employees meet organizational targets. Ralston et al. believed that employees who exceed the expectations of their organizations are deserving of recognition and reward for one's efforts. Transactional leadership demonstrates improvement in organizational effectiveness and performance.

Chen and Chen (2013) examined the effects of transactional leadership styles to the performance and job satisfaction of employees in different countries. The authors developed an instrument to measure job satisfaction using the contingent rewards and management-by-exception dimensions of the MLQ instrument aimed to measure transactional leadership behaviors of leaders. Gregoire and Arendt (2014) revealed that transactional leadership style

failed to yield any significant relationships with performance and job satisfaction of employees. The study failed to illustrate an acceptable level of significance among survey participants in other companies outside the United Arab Emirates. The authors claimed the United Arab Emirates reported high turnover rates, definite employment contract, and lesser opportunity for employee's empowerment. Gregoire and Arendt observed stability and job satisfaction among local employees. The authors noted differences in the culture and nationality of leaders, and that followers influenced the outcome of the transactional leadership style.

Chen and Chen (2013) claimed that reliance on a transactional leadership style could be destructive. The authors collated literature on the effect of transactional leadership styles to build a theoretical taxonomy of followers in a destructive leadership. The authors maximized the theory of follower compliance to examine the psychological processes involving the leader-follower dyad. The authors implied that while the reward system is sustainable, the empowerment of followers is a crucial solution to addressing negative behaviors of leaders.

Conversely, Alkahtani (2015) suggested transformational and transactional leadership styles are the most beneficial for organizations. In the context of organizational effectiveness, the two leadership styles outperformed autocratic, bureaucratic, democratic, and laissez-faire leadership approaches and managers must be carefully evaluate the benefits and risks.

The TAM demonstrates there are factors that influence an individual's PU and PEOU relating to the use of technology and the individual's behavior and a person's management style can influence both the technology acceptance and behavior of the leader. A limited number of studies explored the role of an individual's traits and the effect of such traits on the individual's intention to use technology in his or her business. One study explored the personality type of sales representatives that would use automation systems in the pharmaceutical industry in

Taiwan (Cao, Lu, Gupta, & Yang, 2014). A similar study illustrated that mobile payment services revealed personal traits are salient factors in adoption and use of technology (Cao et al., 2014).

Van Puyvelde, Caers, Du Bois, and Jegers (2016) examined two leadership styles (transformational and transactional) of PEOU and PU of innovative technologies by conducting an empirical study in a service setting. The authors explained that transactional leadership might have a relationship with PEOU and PU of such tools. Transactional leaders might recognize the usefulness of technology to increase productivity and decrease expenses (Van Puyvelde, Caers, Du Bois, & Jegers, 2016). Transformational leaders might be open to tools that encourage subordinates to be more creative and investigative (Van Puyvelde et al., 2016).

Abu-Nahleh (2013) explored leadership theories and connected leadership with leaders' technology acceptance. The main research question posed by Abu-Nahleh involved the degree to which there exists an influence of leadership on technology acceptance in a pharmaceutical company. The author proposed a model of how to determine the relationship of leadership and technology acceptance. Abu-Nahleh; however, failed to explain clearly the relationship between the two concepts.

Healthcare System in the United States

In the 19th century, the United States healthcare system, viewed as disorganized and of poor quality, led to the use of computers in the healthcare sector early in the 20th century (Chun, & Bafford, 2014). In early 1970, a small group of hospitals started adopting healthcare information systems (Gostin & Hodge, 2017). During the 1980s, healthcare information systems made some developments in planning and administration of healthcare data and by 2011, the system reached 150 Exabyte's (Raghupathi & Raghupathi, 2014).

A medical audit is a tool employed to measure quality healthcare. The process illustrates a platform when national health administrators converge to document the evolution of quality medical services and patient's outcomes. Medical professionals determined a central process. which was necessary to assess individual and organizational performance rather than protect the medical community from public scrutiny in cases of malpractice lawsuits. Standards in accounting improve work processes, advance the quality of healthcare, and develop an inclusive process that fosters engagement of hospital leaders (Jackson, Paterson, Pong, & Scarparo, 2014). The United States healthcare system remains inefficient because of rising costs, access barriers, lack of patient coordination, and medical errors (Swensen et al., 2014). Gossett, Padgett, Pierce, and Scott (2019) used complex adaptive systems theory to identify current independent variables that were related to access issues, safety and quality, cost considerations, and stakeholder satisfaction that were both directly (+) and inversely (-) related to one another to show why the U.S. healthcare system has the problems of inefficiency, ineffectiveness, excessively costly, and poor satisfaction in the delivery of healthcare services. Recommendations were also made in this study to use Evidence Based Practices to address these problems in improving safety and quality, bending the cost curve, and increasing stakeholder satisfaction.

The traditional healthcare management system has utilized paper-based medical records in detailing and storing a patient's personal information, medical history, chief complaint, outcome, and follow-up (Duce & Coovert, 2016). Healthcare professionals used handwritten documentation to kept track of patients' data for many years. Howard et al. (2013) reported that healthcare workers documented and used paper-based records because of low implementation costs and widespread acceptance. The data collected was useful to increase the quality of care and increase knowledge of physicians and staff. The disadvantages of utilizing a paper-based

medical records system are (a) doctors may not engage patients over concerns of a potential increase in workload (b) patients may not understand health record information, and (c) and frequent illegibility (Hsiao et al., 2013). Paper-based systems for information storage and retrieval could have high failure rates that might lead to duplication of service, delays in treatment, and increased risk of medical errors because leaders do not yet understand how to best design, implement, and use electronic health information technology (Rippen, Pan, Russell, Byrne, & Swift (2013).

Nguyen, Bellucci, and Nguyen (2014) demonstrated that technology is vital to revealing medical practices and hospital administration competences. Similar to other service-related industries, the healthcare system depends on information technology to provide efficient delivery of services even with limited staff and resources (Jones et al., 2014). More improved innovations and systems, therefore, provide optimum service outcomes (Ducey & Coovert, 2016). The innovative technologies that offer service efficiency in the healthcare facility include Electronic Health Record systems (EHR), computerized physician order entry systems, and the hospital information system. Such innovations provide an information system that has allowed healthcare providers to provide medical diagnosis in a paperless forum (Ducey & Coovert, 2016).

Nguyen et al. (2014) reported that hospital information systems and EHR are prerequisites for the efficient delivery of high-quality healthcare in hospitals. EHR's are convenient, portable and efficient, reduces clerical records, and supports computerized decisions. The purpose of EHRs is to document and communicate patient information and conditions between the interdisciplinary team within and outside an organization (Mandl, 2014) and improve the quality of care (Nguyen, Bellucci, & Nguyen, 2014). Singh and Sittig (2016) stated the EHR is an enabling technology that allows physician practices to pursue meaningful use

tools, which significantly improves patient and provider convenience compared with paper-based records. EHR systems have improved quality, efficiency, and patient-centeredness of care among healthcare facilities (Koh, Brach, Harris, & Parchman, 2013). Presidents Bush and Obama supported the goal to increase the use of technology and the implementation of EHR systems (Clarke et al., 2014).

Meaningful Use

The Center for Medicare and Medicaid services instituted an incentive program aimed to measure physician and hospital quality (Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2012; Gottlieb et al., 2015). The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act of 2009, initiated by the United States federal government, slowed the adoption of EHR systems. Under Medicare and Medicaid, the HITECH Act provides incentive payments to eligible providers who use EHR systems (Blumenthal et al., 2014; Gottlieb et al., 2015). As of April 2013, only 291,000 out of 520,000 eligible physicians in the United States received Medicare and Medicaid EHR incentive programs for stage one meaningful use of EHR (Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2014; Roth et al., 2016).

The Medicare and Medicaid MU programs contain an incentive process, which include eligible providers or both programs. Providers cannot be in both programs. Eligible providers for Medicare incentives include physicians of medicine or osteopathy, dental surgery or medicine, podiatric medicine, optometry, and chiropractic medicine (Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2012). Eligible providers for Medicaid incentives include physicians, nurse practitioners, certified nurse midwives, dentists, and physician assistants in physician practices. The Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services is responsible for the Medicare MU program for eligible providers with the maximum incentive amount of \$44,000 over five consecutive years.

Providers must disclose MU every year to receive incentive payments. Financial penalties for failure to achieve the MU standards by 2015 may apply (Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2012; King et al., 2014). Medicaid agencies govern the MU incentive programs. The maximum incentive amount is \$63,750 with payments over 6 years, which do not have to be consecutive. Providers can receive an incentive payment for adopting, implementing, or upgrading EHR technology (King et al., 2014). King et al. (2014) asserted that providers must demonstrate MU use in the remaining years to receive incentive payments.

The MU program includes three stages. The first stage focuses on the EHR incentive programs by establishing requirements for electronic capture of clinical data (Partridge et al., 2017). Stage one meaningful use began in 2011 and ended in 2013. The requirements for stage one are that eligible providers must achieve 15 core objectives and five of 10 menu objectives. The second stage includes criteria that focus on ensuring MU of EHR systems and exchange of electronic information in the most organized format (Shrestha, Dave, Losina, & Katz, 2016). The third stage focuses on improving quality, safety, and efficiency leading to improved health outcomes (Shrestha, Dave, Losina, & Katz, 2016). The synergy between information technology and medical services are advancing the possibilities in coordinated care and healthcare system performance. The use of EHR in the United States; however, the computerization of information in many other sectors of the economy were delayed (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015). Billing mechanisms were first to change to an electronic platform in healthcare. The universal electronic system could improve care by allowing medical facilities to compare and cross-sect information, leading to improved care and a more communicative dialog that might benefit patients (Middleton et al., 2013). Some common medical errors are adverse drug events, improper transfusions, surgical injuries, mistaken patient identities, order entry and transcription, and

death (Middleton et al., 2013). Medical errors cause a loss of trust in the healthcare system by patients and diminished satisfaction by patients and health professionals.

Electronic Health Record (EHR) is an electronic record of patient health information and demographics generated by one or more encounters in any care delivery setting. Pawar, Patil, and Chaudhari (2014) stated that EHR information includes patient demographics, progress notes, problems, medication, vital signs, past medical history, immunizations, laboratory data, radiology reports, and billing systems. The authors reported the EHR automates and streamlines the clinician's workflow and can generate a complete record of a clinical patient encounter (Pawar, Patil, & Chaudhari, 2014). The EHR is a digital version of the patient's medical history.

Medical professionals understand how IT affects the documentation and security of medical data about to patient information and the potential privacy infringement (Chen & Xu, 2013). An understanding of medical IT processes can improve the quality of medical data and consequently the quality of medical care (Chen & Xu, 2013). This study applies to all healthcare businesses, such as hospitals, small and large medical practices, nursing homes, assisted care facilities, behavioral medicine facilities, nursing schools, medical schools, and technical schools.

Patient safety. Patient safety and healthcare quality, medical errors and adverse effects are still numerous in clinical practice (Yaprak & Intepeler, 2015). As reported by Yaprak and Intepeler (2015), it is difficult to find a consistent guesstimate of errors but to understand the major causes for medical errors and to discover effective intervention to decrease them are fundamental to enhancing patient safety and quality of services. Safety culture is becoming a significant concern for healthcare organizations striving to enhance patient safety, and some safety assessments have pointed out that organizations need a culture change to facilitate an environment of quality care (Yaprak & Intepeler, 2015).

Medical errors and adverse effects are still numerous in clinical practice (Yaprak & Intepeler, 2015). Yaprak and Intepeler (2015) reported it is difficult to find a consistent guesstimate of errors but to understand the major causes for medical errors and to discover effective intervention to decrease them are fundamental to enhancing patient safety and quality of services. Safety culture has become a crucial concern for healthcare organizations strive to enhance patient safety (Yaprak & Intepeler, 2015).

Advantages. The implementation of EHR has transformed the healthcare industry from paper-based to electronic-based clinical transactions (Jones et al., 2014). Providers were encouraged to implement EHR systems and use them to capture and share data to control quality and cost (Payne et al., 2015). Payne et al. (2015) reported there is a focus on designing and implementing a way to make systems increase in quality, efficiency, and safety (Payne et al., 2015). The EHR provides vast and complete health information of patients necessary in the delivery of quality healthcare (Huerta, et al., 2016). The benefits of EHR led lawmakers to enact the HITECH Act of 2009. The law mandates healthcare providers to adopt EHR systems (Huerta et al., 2016). The HITECH Act requires providers to utilize EHR systems in improving the delivery of patients' care (Blumenthal et al., 2014). The ACT authorized nearly \$30 billion to increase adoption of systems (Blumenthal et al., 2014). The use of EHR in computerized physician order entry systems could improve health outcomes and save additional billions over years (Porterfield, Engelbert, & Coustasse, 2014). After surveying some psychiatric clinicians who implemented an EHR system, Alkadi (2016) reported on the following factors: data security, data quality enrichment, personal comfort with security, efficiency, and personal importance of confidentiality. Singh and Sittig (2016) reported after surveying a group of healthcare providers, they experienced numerous benefits when adopting EHR system. The

healthcare providers noted the EHR improved access to quality information. The workers noted improved efficiency, productivity, and workflow. The workers also realized improved patient care, coordination of care of patients with other providers, and improved ability to detect medication errors.

Disadvantages. Medical practitioners have been slow to implement EHR systems because of financial constraints, changes in workflow, temporary loss of productivity, and privacy and security concerns (Najaftorkaman et al., 2015). Jarvis et al. (2013) reported the two most significant barriers to EHR implementation were fear of change and lack of funding. Adler-Milstein et al. (2015) reported that other barriers include the inability of matching a system to meet the specific needs of healthcare providers and the apprehension of the system turning obsolete.

Many American people die because of preventable medical errors (Hogan et al., 2014). Some common medical errors are adverse drug events and improper transfusions, surgical injuries and wrong-site surgery, restraint-related injuries or death, falls, burns, pressure ulcers, and mistaken patient identities. Medical errors cost causes loss of trust in the healthcare system by patients and diminished satisfaction by patients and health professionals. Healthcare professionals experience loss of morale and frustration at not providing the best care possible. Patients who experience an extended hospital stay or disability because of errors pay with physical and psychological discomfort. Health professionals pay with a loss of morale and frustration at not being able to provide the best care possible. Society pays regarding lost worker productivity, reduced school attendance by children and lower levels of population health status (Middleton et al., 2013). Medical workers must understand how IT affects the documentation and security of medical data. A benefit of understanding can improve the quality of medical data

and consequently the quality of medical care (Chen & Xu, 2013). Healthcare professionals experience a loss of morale and frustration when unable to provide the best care possible. Society pays because of lost worker productivity, reduced school attendance by children and lower levels of population health status (de Veer, Francke, Struijs, & Willems, 2013).

Barriers to the Implementation of Electronic Health Records

Many medical organizations experience barriers during an implementation of EHR systems. One barrier to successful implementation of an EHR system is a selection of software. Organizational leaders must be cautious when selecting an EHR system to meet the needs of the healthcare workers. Numerous vendors are available on the market. Achimugu, Selamat, Ibrahim, and Mahrin (2014) revealed all stakeholders should have input into the software selection process.

Cost can be a major barrier to successfully implementing an EHR system. Nationally, the implementation of EHR systems could cost between \$100 billion and \$150 billion and \$50 billion per year in operational cost. The start-up cost of implementation of an EHR system includes the cost of capital outlay (Fleming et al., 2014). Maintenance cost of EHR includes the administrative commitment, control maintenance, support, monitoring modifying and upgrading (Huerta et al., 2016). Some leaders in the healthcare sector consider the start-up and maintenance costs as barriers to the financial operation of the organization (Blumenthal et al., 2014).

An effective EHR system can code encounters properly while the practitioner is documenting the encounter. The right EHR system will enable the organization to provide inhouse billing, without having to outsource the process. According to Vawdrey et al. (2014), organizations can save at least the cost of software completing their billing functions in house.

Another barrier to successful implementation of an EHR system is training. Proper training is essential for successful implementation of any EHR system. Roth, Lannum, Dennison, and Towbin (2016) asserted the success of EHR system lies behind the support of the clinicians and patients. However, one study revealed that physicians believe it is significant to mention they did not receive proper training during the implementation of their EHR system (Roth et al., 2016). The same researchers believed they did not have enough knowledge to ask appropriate questions. Consequently, the physicians believed their implementation process was dysfunctional and inadequate (Roth et al., 2016).

Legislative History on Electronic Health Record Adoption

Abdekhoda, Ahmadi, Gohari, and Noruzi (2015) found the medicinal field and particularly doctors were slow to utilize data innovation. Paper diagram frameworks stayed predominant in clinics and medicinal practices in the USA even though EHR frameworks have been accessible since the 1990s with such potential advantages (Bere, 2014). Noblin et al. (2013) suggested that 17% of all healing centers and 10% of all doctors were utilizing health information technology before the adoption of the American Recuperation and Reinvestment Demonstration of 2009. In 2008, short of what one of every five US doctor's facilities had EHR frameworks (Weiss & Nunes Amaral, 2013).

An absence of profitability and monetary gains on the medicinal services industry was cultivated by this inability to receive innovation utilizing EHR frameworks (Furukawa, et al., 2014). Advancing EHR frameworks turned into a key need for administrative pioneers and human services creators with the objective of accomplishing enhanced quality and medicinal services cost regulation (Abdekhoda et al., 2015).

President Bush had marked an official request in 2004, which made the Office of the National Coordinator for health information technology (Furukawa et al., 2014). The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act planned \$2 billion yearly for the workplace to spend on loans to human services suppliers and expanded the workplace's monetary obligations (King et al., 2014). The Act settled an objective for the workplace; for every individual in the United States to have an EHR framework set up by 2014 (King et al., 2014).

The HITECH Act, which is a piece of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, and the Affordable Care Act (ACA) of 2010, were endorsed by Congress to enforce the laws (Weiss & Nunes Amaral, 2013). Weiss and Nunes Amaral (2013) reported hindrances to EHR usage, which included specialized unpredictability, nonexistent financial motivating forces, and interoperability issues in the United States insurance industry.

In 2009, government policymakers endeavored to build the utilization and reception of health information technology (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015). The American Recovery Act of 2009 propelled wide government activities for biomedical research, HIT, and security of patient data (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015). One hundred and fifty-billion dollars was earmarked to the medical services industry and Congress planned \$86.6 billion for Medicaid assistance. Of these assets, \$19.2 billion was planned for HIT, \$650 million for preventative human services and wellbeing support, and \$500 million to prepare healthcare experts (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015). The \$20 billion planned for health information technology came as immediate stipends for adoption of meaningful use (Adler-Milstein et. al., 2015).

Congress arranged the HITECH Act would settle the issues with the decentralized, open market EHR framework, which began in the United States (Weiss & Nunes Amaral, 2013). The HITECH Act additionally provided approximately \$27 billion in motivating forces for execution

of Medicare and Medicaid to suppliers who met meaningful use models (Weiss & Nunes, & Amaral, 2013).

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 required doctors in outpatient settings to execute and utilize completely working EHR frameworks to meet government prerequisites for meaningful use (Bentley et al., 2016). The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act changed HIPAA by enabling patients to assess electronic data of one's medical history (Steinbrook, 2009). Patient data records had generally been available in hard copy format (Steinbrook, 2009). The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 additionally mandated the encryption of patient data was electronically transmitted (Steinbrook, 2009). Furthermore, the ACT limits the sale of patient data and precludes utilizing the information for raising support or marketing efforts, and strengthens enforcement and government oversight (Steinbrook, 2009).

Meaningful use is a standard doctors and healing centers must meet (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). Meaningful Use illuminated health information technology demonstrating what strategies doctors and healing centers could utilize to enhance the quality, wellbeing, and effectiveness of patient care (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). The Government set out 14-centric goals that doctor's facilities must meet to receive incentives. Notwithstanding the 14-centered targets, hospital leaders must also select five of the ten extra metrics (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017).

Meaningful Use is a three-arrange framework created to make modern EHR use (Weiss & Nunes Amaral, 2013). Stage one of MU is gathering information; stage two is expanding coordination of care, and stage three is enhancing patient results (Weiss & Nunes Amaral, 2013). Singh and Sittig (2016) countered the objectives of the three periods of MU as; (a) tending to

safety concerns exclusive to EHR innovation, (b) alleviating safety issues emerging from utilizing EHR inaccurately, and (c) adopting a framework for observing and enhancing patient safety electronically.

Without MU, the developers of the ACA gambled boosting volume over results (Weiss & Nunes Amaral, 2013). More than half of suppliers and 80% of acute care facilities gained impetus installments and ended up becoming MU clients (Weiss & Nunes Amaral, 2013). Government strategy administrators utilized scientific research revealing the utilization of electronic means enhance the nature of human services (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). According to Adel, El-Sappagh, Barakat, & Elmogy (2018) interoperability in healthcare is getting EHR systems to work together. Adler-Milstein and Jha (2017) purported that consolidating interoperability with enhanced nature of care brought about lessened medicinal services costs. Notwithstanding, the healthcare industry was impervious to sharing patient data and interoperability advanced gradually (Weiss & Nunes Amaral, 2013).

Adler-Milstein and Jha (2017 used data collected by the American Hospital Association to answer questions about hospitals and the MU criteria. The American Hospital Association (AMA) surveyed 4,493 acute care nonfederal hospitals (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). Meaningful use regulations require the collection of demographic information, such as age, sex, race or ethnicity, and preferred language. Most hospitals with health information technology systems did not collect such demographics, before the passage of the HITECH Act. Only 11.9% of hospitals had health information technology in 2009 (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017)

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 fiscally advanced the execution of EHR frameworks by reducing payments to specialists and clinics on a diminishing scale that chose not to implement EHR systems. In 2011, doctors received \$15 thousand dollars' worth of

payments but attained a reduction to about \$2 thousand by 2015 if EHR systems were not in place (DesRoches, 2015).

Noblin et al. (2013) noted one practice with four doctors recorded a savings of \$5500 in the initial 8-months of utilization, and \$6800 every month for the next year. The four doctors also revealed a savings of \$7000 in office supplies in the same timeframe (Noblin et al., 2013). With the cost of the system at \$88 thousand, the investment in the technology was paid in 1-year. The technology was more convenient to use than the paper method and allowed for timely payments, which increased cash flow (Noblin et al., 2013).

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 incorporated an area on Federal Planning Chamber for comparative exploration research, made up of 15 elected authorities, half of which must be healthcare experts (Steinbrook, 2009). The Federal Board for comparative research suggests and facilitates investigations; however, the committee cannot enact clinical rules (Steinbrook, 2009). The reason was the administration should advance the exploration that human services suppliers use to make clinical rules, but the legislature does not have the desire to advise doctors on how to treat patients (Steinbrook, 2009). The ACA expelled numerous hindrances to healthcare advancement in the United States by ensuring access to medicinal services for Americans (Bentley et al., 2016). The ACA proved to be a motivating force to doctors to change medicinal services conveyance; thereby, changing the concentration of patient care (Steinbrook, 2009).

The ACA provided money to urge doctors to utilize EHR (Jha & Pronovost, 2016). Under the ACA, medicinal services suppliers could electronically investigate patient's insurance information to determine if laboratory tests are included in one's coverage, and understand any out-of-pocket costs, which could be a burden to the patient (Steinbrook, 2009). Steinbrook

(2009) anticipated the progression of health information technology would spare the legislature \$20 billion throughout the following 10-years and determined that doctor's facilities and physicians would save considerably more. Electronic designs are more efficient and effective with every advancing year (Jha & Pronovost, 2016).

The primary purpose behind the laws that aid in the EHR implementation effort is that EHR could enhance each aspect of patient care (Noblin et al., 2013). Weiss and Nunes Amaral (2013) discovered EHR frameworks had propelled capacities, for example, early lung tumor diagnostics. Noblin et al. (2013) bore witness to how EHR diminishes therapeutic blunders and trusted the technology alone notwithstanding the money related expenditures required for system integration. Human services offices intending to offer ideal care to patients should adopt EHR technology to appropriately manage and protect patient data (Noblin et al., 2013).

Cutler and Morton (2013) noticed the enactment had not sufficiently tended to the multipayer framework with its natural wasteful aspects. Insurance agencies spread the expenses of various charging and credentialing methods to clients, expelling any motivating force to enact new standards. Moreover, the muddled billing strategies could yield savings from denied insurance claims, which were submitted inaccurately (Cutler & Morton, 2013).

Transition

The United States healthcare system struggled in implementing effective healthcare program (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015). Restructuring the healthcare system in the United States would require the integration of technology in the daily business operation. Adoption of technology will improve quality, efficiency, and patient-centeredness of care (Dullabh, Sondheimer, Katsh, & Evans, 2014)). However, even though the benefits of improving healthcare care practice and efficiencies of services, acceptance, and utilization of EHR has been

relatively low (Friedman, Parrish, & Ross, 2013). Adler-Milstein et al., reported that 75% of hospital providers had transitioned to the basic EHR, with smaller providers still lagging in adoption (Adler-Milstein et al., 2015). Healthcare leaders need to determine factors that positively and negatively influence the adoption of an EHR system. This section detailed the purpose, nature, and research questions. This information can guide me in analyzing emerging themes that may appear in the analysis of the interview data.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, exploratory, single case study was to identify strategies that managers in a Midwestern U.S. chemical dependency treatment facility used to successfully adopt an EHR system. A purposeful sample of five behavioral healthcare managers participated in the study. Implementation of an EHR system may result in savings of \$14,055 per provider (Fleming et al., 2014). The implications for social change from this study include the potential to implement useful business practices and strategies for healthcare providers who need to successfully adopt an EHR system to meet federal requirements, which can improve the quality of patient care in a cost effective manner as well as the quality of life for the consumers who use these services.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the main instrument used in the case study was to design, collect, and interpret the data (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). This study involved interviewing five behavioral healthcare managers for identifying factors that mirrored their experiences. The quality of the data depended on the participants' attitudes and perceptions of the factors that influence the adoption of the EHR system. Researchers use semistructured interviews to yield a more in-depth understanding of the views of the participants for the same underlying problem (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Semistructured interviews help understand perceptions derived from richly textured descriptions and reflections about experiences (King & Nesbit, 2015). I used semistructured interviews to collect data and only include the opinions and perspectives brought forth from the study participants. I did not have any direct reporting relationships with the participants in the study, but my familiarity working in the planned setting

may have allowed for a more open sharing of perceptions about the effects adopting an EHR system.

My role was also to treat participants in an ethical manner and adhere to the Belmont Report guidelines of fairness, beneficence, and justice (Miracle, 2016). Additionally, it is important for researchers to understand that conducting research through a personal perspective lens can influence bias and cultural experiences (Ness, 2015). As a new researcher, I understood my role was to eliminate personal bias, which began by withholding any preconceived ideas from working in the field and establishing a feeling of trust by protecting the participants' confidentiality. Further, through exploratory data analysis, theories such as the actor-network model attributes a causal relationship through the process of bracketing so a researcher can expose bias not readily eliminated (Rieder, Abdulla, Poell, Woltering, & Zack, 2015). I used bracketing to acknowledge the viewpoint of others and be less subjective as a systematic approach to reduce bias and gain a deep appreciation for the participants' perceptions (Koch, Niesz, & McCarthy, 2014). In addition to addressing bias, confidentiality agreements helped protect participants' rights.

Finally, as the researcher, I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to control each interview, mitigate bias, and establish principled standards (Doody & Doody, 2015; Patton, 2015; Yin, 2018). The case study protocol framed the steps I implemented in the data collection, analysis, and reporting process. A protocol provides confirmation of reliability by standardizing the conduct of the study and facilitates the dependability of exploration by proactively illuminating possible issues, which investigators can review to understand selected decisions (Yin, 2018).

Participants

In this study, I investigated providers specializing in treatment for people with addictive illness in the U.S. Midwest. Gaining access to participants working in this chemical dependency treatment facility was welcoming. At the facility's regularly scheduled monthly management meeting, I presented a review of my proposed research and asked for study volunteers including behavioral healthcare managers working at the selected facility. The review of the study provided enough information for managers to decide if they wanted to participate.

Sample size varies based on the study design and available resources (Patton, 2015). Selecting sample sizes depends on the investigator's ability to judge sufficient data saturation and quality (Glaser & Strauss, 1967). Small sample sizes are adequate when researchers are insiders (Bengtsson, 2016). Thus, I selected the first five study contributors who volunteered and were (a) successful in managing the transition from the use of a paper system to an electronic healthcare platform (b) held a professional position within the organization, and (c) computer literate. Five employees, who volunteered to participate, were sufficient to achieve data saturation (Francis et al., 2010). Strategies for developing a working relationship with the study population included maintaining concise communication, providing a clear statement of the problem, and conducting the interviews in a safe and comfortable environment (Doody & Doody, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

The participants selected received a letter of introduction reaffirming the details and extent of the exploration. Participation in the study was voluntary, and I did not offered incentives to participate in the research. Research ethics require researchers to obtain consent from participants prior to an interview (Flick & Röhnsch, 2014). To protect the participants' confidentially, they completed an informed consent form before scheduling an interview. The

informed consent form included a statement that reveals how participants' rights and confidentiality would be assured (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). At the time of the interviews, participants reviewed and signed the formal informed consent form. The consent form reinforced the purpose of the study and provided the pathway for participants to withdraw from the study at any time within the research process. Participants were advised to attach a withdraw notification form and send to my personal e-mail account.

Research Method and Design

Researchers have the option of adopting a qualitative, quantitative, or mixed method approach for data collection (Yin, 2018). I chose a qualitative, exploratory single-case study design. The use of semistructured interviews, a review of workplace documents such as meeting notes, and interview field notes allowed me to understand how the perceptions of behavioral healthcare managers working in a U.S. Midwest chemical dependency treatment facility influenced the adoption of an EHR system.

Research Method

The qualitative method of inquiry allows for more flexibility in all aspects of the investigation process and is useful when researchers intend to understand the way in which people interact within the environment (Cronin, 2014). Qualitative research is ideal for investigating phenomenon specific to exploratory or formative purposes (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Yin, 2018). In contrast, quantitative researchers collect data that measures relationships between and among variables to test assumptions (Elliott et al., 2014; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Variables or characteristics that change among the study population are synonymous with experiments or non-experimental procedures in the data collection process using a survey

instrument in which findings are generalizable to a large population. A mixed method approach is a combination of both qualitative and quantitative methods.

The qualitative method was the most appropriate to illustrate the adoption of an EHR system. In this study, the thoughts and experiences of participants were collected through semistructured, open-ended interviews in the participants' natural setting, which aligned with a qualitative approach. Neither the quantitative nor mixed method was a suitable option because the methods would not facilitate a comprehensive analysis within to meet the goals of my research within the time frame allotted for my study (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Sidani et al., 2014; Yin, 2018).

Research Design

Researchers make decisions to describe, explain, or explore a contributor's perception of a phenomenon (Yin, 2018). Qualitative researchers use semistructured, open-ended questions, which allows participants to respond verbally (Merriam, 2014). Additionally, the case study method is valuable in the discovery phase of research (Moll, 2012). For example, Yang, Kankanhalli, Ng, and Lim (2015) used an exploratory case study to learn how to reduce costs and improve the quality of health care not withstanding insufficient information technology that could result in poor outcomes. Additionally, Cronin (2014) used a case study research design when she interviewed participants to understand how students learn in a healthcare setting. Case studies help illuminate an intra-subject perspective on the phenomenon derived from *how* and *why* questions (Yin, 2018). Tuhs, I selected an exploratory, single-case study as the research design with the aim to increase the understanding of EHR adoption among healthcare managers working in a chemical dependency clinic in the U.S. Midwest.

The narrative inquiry was not appropriate as a design for this research because the focus was not on understanding conditions relating to participants living in a natural setting or their stories. Ethnography was also not appropriate because the focus was not on observations relating to cultural group experiences witnessed over an extended period (Rashid et al., 2015). Finally, phenomenology was not appropriate because the objective of the study was not to understand the essence of human experience about a phenomenon (Anderson, 2015).

Population and Sampling

The population from which the sample participants were derived included behavioral healthcare managers working a U.S. Midwest treatment facility that moved from a paper process to an EHR system. The organization provides comprehensive outpatient detoxication services for adults. Volunteers were computer literate behavioral healthcare managers. Working in the selected facility provided me the opportunity to gain access to perspective contributors.

Purposeful sampling is a means to select information-rich cases (Patton, 2015).

Purposeful sampling allowed me to select a group of participants who best understood a phenomenon. Purposeful sampling methods also involve best practices for justifying sample size in information systems organizations (Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, & Fontenot, 2013). Further, the quality of the information received from the sample is more crucial than the number of participates used to collect the data (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). A case study supports the idea that a small number of participants is strong enough to answer the research question (Parker & O'Reilly, 2013).

At a monthly management meeting, I presented a review of my proposed research and asked for anyone interested in participating to contact me. The review provided enough information for them to decide to participate. I selected the first five study contributors who

volunteered to participate in the research with the following conditions: (a) successful in managing the transition from the use of a paper system to an electronic healthcare platform (b) held a professional position within the organization, and (c) computer literate.

Data Saturation

In a qualitative study, data saturation is essential (Francis et al., 2010). During the onset of data saturation, the researcher begins to gain an understanding of which direction to pursue throughout analysis (Marshall et al., 2013). Data saturation occurs when no new themes emerge from collecting data (Glaser & Strauss, 1967). Selecting sample sizes depends on the investigator's ability to judge sufficient data saturation and quality. A sample size of five participants met the data saturation required in understanding the research questions in this study. I adopted an ending benchmark in which two interviews were sufficient to achieve data saturation without innovative ideas arising or cause new strategies to emerge.

Ethical Research

Protecting the rights of the participants is important for ethics and trustworthiness in research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I took the following measures to safeguard the participant's confidentiality. A letter of introduction was the first step to provide all potential participants the necessary information needed to make an informed decision concerning joining the research. Information included the purpose of the research, specific involvement in the interview process detailing time constraints and meeting locations, steps taken to protect confidentiality, and the withdraw process (Judkins-Cohn, Kielwasser-Withrow, Owen, & Ward, 2014). Prior to the collection of data, the Walden University Institutional Review Board approved the conduct of this research (approval number 10-23-18-0068381).

Consent

Study contributors must have a full appreciation of the steps taken in the research process and understand their rights through the informed consent process (Aluwihare-Samaranayake, 2012). Participants must be knowledgeable in research vocabulary such as beneficence (goodness), no maleficence (to do no intentional harm), and integrity (honesty) to ensure the researcher adheres to the principles of that aids both the participant and the investigator ethically. Thus, it is important for participants to sign an informed consent form prior to any interview or questioning to collect data (Bhattacharya, 2014). The informed consent serves as an assurance of a researcher's commitment to ethical practices (Skinner et al., 2015). The informed consent included a statement that aimed to protect the participants' rights by excluding their names and work location from the study, not discussing the participants' comments with anyone, and safeguarding the interview transcripts. To reinforce confidentiality, participants reviewed and completed an informed consent form and returned the signed document to me before scheduling interviews. Participants were advised verbally and in writing that involvement in the research is voluntary and contributors can withdraw from the study at any time, without penalty, by submitting a withdraw notice to me. Participants did not receive any monetary incentives for participating in the research. Further, discrimination of any participant, based on age, sex, or ethnic background was not be an issue in my research, as all participants had an equal opportunity to volunteer for the research.

I recorded all interviews on an encrypted recording device and stored all study materials in a locked cabinet at my residence. I will store the study materials for 5 years. In the recording, participants had a unique identifier (e.g., Participant 1) to identify the contributor. All study participants received the same interview questions and had the option of declining to answer any

question should one become unable to provide a response for any reason (see Bellavance & Alexander, 2012). Participants had the opportunity to refuse to answer any question and to take a break at any time during the interview. All the participants appeared comfortable during their interview session. If they would have appeared or complained of being uncomfortable, I was prepared to end the interview.

Although the measures illuminated the high standards of confidentiality, there is always some risk involved. Discomforts from sitting for extended periods during the interviews or common ailments such as stress or fatigue could pose a problem. If participants experienced any symptoms of discomfort, the interview would have ended to safeguard the contributor's health and well-being. Additionally, unauthorized loss of data from computer failures and potential loss of an electronic media device are crucial factors when considering consent. Utilization of a desktop computer mitigated the risk, and using an encrypted storage platform was used to store data. Stored materials will reside in a locked cabinet at my residence for 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

Walden University Institutional Review Board approval is a requirement prior to data collection. The path by which data collection occurred in this research provided organization and structure to the participants' contributions. An interview protocol (see Appendix A) formed the context of collected data identifying the instrument, nature of interview approach, and the process aimed to adopt rival explanations.

Instrument

Researchers must recognize themselves as focal instruments in the research process (Haahr, Norlyk, & Hall, 2014), as researchers are the primary instruments for data collection in qualitative studies (Marbach, 2013). As a qualitative case study researcher, I functioned as the

primary data collection instrument using semi- structured interviews in my research (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Patton, 2015; Stake, 1996). Other instruments included (a) an interview protocol (see Appendix A); (b) an informed consent form, and (c) an audio recorder. Secondary data sources included observational field notes, and a review of workplace documents, such as meeting notes. ATLAS.ti is a qualitative data analysis software that acted as the instrument that assisted me in illuminating themes and patterns of behavior expressed by the study contributors (Woods, Paulus, Atkins, & Macklin, 2015).

Interview Method

Rubin and Rubin (2012) purported that investigators adopt the use of semi-structured interviews, which include the culmination of prepared and unstructured interview questions to enhance the interviewing experience and gain an in-depth account of the participant's views. Cridland, Jones, Caputi, and Magee (2015) also suggested that semistructured interviews are an effective method of collecting data. Semistructured interviews will allow flexibility in responsiveness to the emergent themes for both the participants and the interviewer (King & Nesbit, 2015). The platform is an effective method of the collecting data to allow participants to articulate one's full expressions (Cridland, Jones, Caputi, & Magee, 2015). Semistructured interviewing, digital recorded semistructured questions and probing provided the participants a chance to respond using their own words (Merriam, 2014). King and Nesbit (2015) asserted that interviewing is a set of techniques for generating data from individuals or groups utilizing structured, semistructures, or unstructured questioning formats.

Triangulation Technique

Triangulation techniques was used to gather information by conducting semistructured interviews, recording fieldwork observations, and reviewing workplace documents, such as

departmental meeting notes (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Yin (2018) revealed triangulation in case study research assists investigators to establish reliable and credible information. Boblin, Ireland, Kirkpatrick, and Robertson (2013) understood the phenomena gathered from multiple data sources supports the research findings. The use of semistructured interview questions to gather rich data from the participants will further the investigation into the contributor's perceptions and experiences in transitioning from a manual system to an operable EHR system. Questions in the proposed study remained open-ended so that exploring new or interrelated information could surface during the interview process. Structured interview questions were precise; thereby, restricting the participant's views (Patton, 2015).

Case Study Protocol and Procedure Guide Process

I collected data from five behavioral health leaders using semistructured interviews, which allowed participants to verbalize one's experiences without the constraint of the researcher's perspective. A list of interview questions used to gather data assisted others gain insight into my participants' unique experiences, standardize the interview questions, and kept the dialog focused to ensure credibility and validity of the information (see Appendix A). The use of an interview protocol (see Appendix A) provided order, kept the discussions flowing, and maintained consistency between interviews (Doody & Doody, 2015; Lofland & Lofland, 1984). The expected length for each interview was approximately 30-40 minutes.

Case Study Database

A case study database provides organization to collected data. Items included in the database were copies of workplace documents, transcripts of recorded interviews, and field notes. The notes illuminated the participant's body language and voice inflection documented during the interview. I also included a table of codes from the data analysis and a list that cross-

references my participant's name and coded number. The databases are located in a folder on my computer that is password protected.

Member Checking

Member checking enhances the reliability and validity of the data collection process (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The quality of the data depends upon the participants' views to illustrate what factors influenced the adoption of the EHR system. The quality of the data could also be dependent upon my interviewing skills (Parker, 2014). Researchers adopting the qualitative method could use the member checking technique to ensure the data is trustworthy and credible. Snyder (2012) used the member checking technique while exploring four careerchanging women moving from science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) fields to high school education. The member checking process requires the participants to review interview summaries and provide feedback before the data analysis process begins (Lincoln & Gupta, 1985). The process will ensure the data is credible, and the themes represent the true nature of the participant's perceptions. I asked the first two study participants to review the narrative summary of the findings and offer an opinion as to the accuracy of the data interpretation. The contributors offered corrections when he or she noticed errors. The member checking process authenticated my research and assisted me to establish credibility of the research findings.

Data Collection Technique

Strategies depicting what behavioral health care managers use to support the implementation of an EHR system derived from the data collection techniques used in the proposed research. Other forms of data included participant observations recorded in field notes and workplace documents. An interview protocol (see Appendix A) provided evidence of how I

collected data and controlled each interview meeting to mitigate bias and establish principled standards.

To begin, potential participants received a letter of introduction in which I described the purpose of the study, and the consent form process. The letter illustrated the interview scheduling process, which will occur through the Internet, via telephone, or during face-to-face interactions. Further information revealed there would not be any monitory contribution for participation in the study.

Audio Recording

Margolis, Martin, and Mott (2016) discussed how audiotaping conversations captures a real exchange of information. Fade and Swift (2011) suggested a process whereby researchers record the participant's assigned number on the audiotape at the beginning of each interview to identify the participant and protect the contributor's identity. The use of an Olympus digital encrypted voice recorder provided a secured measure to protect the interview data.

The advantage of using semistructured methods of data collection allows participants the opportunity to respond using one's voice (Merriam, 2014). King and Nesbit (2015) demonstrated the use of how semistructured interviews turns to understanding perceptions derived from richly textured descriptions and reflections about one's experiences. Rubin and Rubin (2012) purported that researchers use semistructured interviews to yield a more in-depth understanding of the views of the participants for the same underlying problems. Schäffler et al. (2014) asserted that a disadvantage of tape-recording face-to-face sessions may provide the interviewer a false sense of security believing data will not be lost; thereby, taking notes is not necessary. Transcribing interviews is also a time-consuming process. Justinia (2014) suggested that a 1-hour tape takes 5-

6-hours to transcribe. Some investigators rely on transcription services, which is not only costly, but also has the potential for not capturing the participant's full response (Justinia, 2014).

Member Checking

In a qualitative, case study, data saturation is essential (Francis et al., 2010). Data saturation occurs when no new themes emerge from responding participants. A minimum of five contributors from behavioral healthcare managers working in a chemical dependency treatment facility in the U.S. Midwest was sufficient to meet data saturation.

Researchers adopting the qualitative method of inquiry could use the member checking technique to ensure the data is trustworthy and credible (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Harper and Cole (2012) reported that member checking is a quality control process by which a researcher seeks to improve data accuracy, credibility, and validity. I developed a member checking protocol as described by Lincoln and Gupta (1985) to understand what strategies behavioral health care managers could use to support the implementation of an EHR system.

The member checking process entails requiring the participants to review the research summary and provide feedback (Lincoln & Gupta, 1985). The process will ensure the data is credible and the themes represent the true nature of the participant's perceptions. I asked the first two study participants to review the narrative summary of the findings and offer an opinion as to the accuracy of the data interpretation. The participants did not any offer errors needing corrected. The member checking process authenticated my research and assisted me with establishing credibility of the research findings. The quality of the data in the study depended upon the participants' views of what factors influenced the adoption of the EHR system (Parker, 2014).

Data Organization Technique

Data organization is central to illuminating a clear picture of the problem under investigation. The transcription process includes migrating the participants' recorded interviews and field notes into Microsoft's word processing application, and subsequently into ATLAS.ti qualitative analysis software (Woods et al., 2015). Yin (2018) revealed note taking is a major step in substantiating the participant's responses in case study research. Yin (2018) suggested using an electronic organization system would provide flexibility to manipulate data appropriately. Each behavioral health contributor was assigned a number, such as Participant 1, to protect their confidentially. I documented the corresponding participant's number and name in an Excel spreadsheet codebook and catalog information. The electronic data log included type of documentation, participant identification codes and collection dates, and computerized file locations. The purpose of de-identifying study contributors will protect the participant's confidentiality (Khanal, Rissel, & Lloyd, 2016). All data resides in a secure location in my residence for 5-years.

Data Analysis

Moustakas' (1994) modified van Kaam method of analysis was utilized. This method allowed exploration of experiences and let themes emerge naturally. The Moustakas (1994) van Kaam method generally consists of seven steps for analyzing qualitative data:

- 1. Preliminarily group elements (ideas) by giving initial codes.
- 2. Eliminate or exclude redundancies while noting repetitions of ideas.
- 3. Relate different codes to each other for possible compatibility (combine codes).
- 4. Present categories with evidence in the participants' own words and validate categories with two or more people judging their validation.

- 5. Determine potential themes across participants from the categories.
- 6. Meaningfully relate themes within and across participants to determine compatibility to the phenomena of study. Are individual ideas expressed by the majority of the sample, and compatible with the final themes on the whole?
- 7. Reflect on the themes in the participants' own words and synthesize findings into essence of the experience.

I gathered information by conducting semistructured interviews, recording fieldwork observations, and reviewing workplace documents, such as departmental meeting notes (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Questions in the proposed study remained open-ended so that exploring new or interrelated information could surface during the interview process. Structured interview questions are precise; thereby, restricting the participant's views (Patton, 2015).

I used Strauss' (1987) open coding technique as the underpinning analysis strategy of creating meaningful evidence from a myriad of information (Doody & Doody, 2015). Patton (2015) asserted that triangulation strengthens studies by combining research methods. I utilized methodological triangulation techniques to gather information by conducting semistructured interviews, recording fieldwork observations, and reviewing workplace documents, such as departmental meeting notes (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). The purpose of using multiple sources of data is to corroborate the validity and credibility of the study findings (Yin, 2018).

Strauss (1987) discovered that open coding is the process of assigning codes based on textual data in which researchers relate conceptual categories and interview questions, and as a first step in identifying emerging patterns of information (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Lawrence and Tar (2013) asserted open coding allows researchers to seek patterns without limitations or the need to apply filters. Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas (2013) revealed that recognizing

central themes surfacing from two common approaches to analyzing data is unclear because researcher's use of qualitative content and thematic analysis techniques interchangeably.

Lawrence and Tar (2013) asserted that open coding illuminated data without limitations in scope because the process does not include filters, which limit the application of coding data. The open coding process allows the researcher to examine patterns to ensure the research is clear of biases.

Yin (2018) asserted qualitative software tools could assist researchers illuminate codes while analyzing the data. Woods, Paulus, Atkins, and Macklin (2015) used ATLAS.ti software applying both inductive and deductive analysis techniques to his mixed method case study. I used the ATLAS.ti qualitative data software to perform code frequency and co-occurrence analyses. ATLAS.ti will mark information as case nodes associating coded passages to contextual themes. Many categories and themes emerged from deductive coding multiple data sources gathered from information pertaining to how behavioral healthcare managers working in a chemical dependency treatment facility believed as to the adoption of an EHR system. I applied open codes in an assortment of ways, such as linking codes to a word, a sentence, or a paragraph to order and synthesize the participant's views (Strauss, 1987).

I aligned the collection and analysis of themes to the literature review and the conceptual framework of the TAM authored by Davis (1986) to determine the adoption or acceptance of technology. The model provides a foundation of how external factors influence the attitudes and intentions of individuals who implement technology. Therefore, TAM allows researchers to forecast behavioral patterns of individuals utilizing information systems (Davis, 1986). The objective of TAM is to calculate the acceptance of information systems and to assist researchers to reveal PU and PEOU. PU and PEOU are aspects that influence users' decisions about how and

why people use technology. Before learning technology, individuals have the tendency to form attitudes and intentions towards the process.

Reliability and Validity

Additional data emerged from behavioral healthcare managers using semi- structured interviews, observations, and document analysis, which identified strategies that influenced the adoption of an EHR system. Triangulation of the study findings assisted me to resolve rival explanations (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Patton, 2015). Morse (2015) described how credibility, transferability, and confirmability could bring an element of trust to qualitative research. Reliability and validity are crucial factors in evaluating the quality of the study findings. Validity pertains to how well the research results align with reality. Reliability relates to the ability of a measure to yield consistent results under similar conditions (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). The information that follows contains information on data triangulation and transferability to support the research findings.

Reliability

Yin (2018) suggested the purpose of establishing reliability is to reduce inaccuracies in collecting data. Quantitative researchers demonstrate reliability by the ability to replicate results (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). However, replicating results, s not applicable in qualitative research because the basis for collecting data from individuals describing a unique perspective; therefore, the results are not generalizable.

Dependability

Yilmaz (2013) noted dependability relates to the replication of research findings using the same approach in collecting data. Jouin, Gouriveau, Hissel, Péra, and Zerhouni (2016) believed researchers demonstrate dependability by the ability for other researcher to replicate the data.

Marshall and Rossman (2016) demonstrated that dependability was an integral component of integrity in case study research. Baskerville and Wood-Harper (2016) posited that case study dependability refers to the informant's consistent account and the investigators' ability to collect and record information accurately. All notes, data, audiotapes, document reviews, and transcript information determine the dependability of data (Yin, 2018). Triangulation of the data and the data coding process demonstrated dependability of the study findings.

Sinkovics and Alfoldi (2012) noted a case study becomes dependable through the process of collecting data by building a chain of evidence. The chain of evidence includes using multiple forms of data in which qualitative researchers consider the difficulty of a phenomenon in a vibrant and dynamic environment (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). I used a case study protocol to document steps in the collection and analysis of data (see Appendix A). The process provided a chain of evidence to demonstrate the collection of data beginning with an overview of the central research question controlling the study. A review of the consent form ensured each participant had an accurate understanding of one's rights and illuminate the measures incorporated aimed to protect the confidentiality of the participants. The timeframe for expunging the data from the recording device provided participants a better understanding of what information will remain for 5 years from the guides of Walden University.

Data Saturation

Francis et al. (2010) revealed in a qualitative study, data saturation is essential. During the onset of data saturation, the researcher begins to gain an understanding of which direction to pursue throughout analysis (Marshall et al., 2013). Glaser & Strauss (1967) asserted that data saturation occurs when no new themes emerge from collecting data. A sample size of five participants met the data saturation requirement in understanding the research questions in the

proposed study. I adopted an ending benchmark in which two interviews was sufficient to achieve data saturation without new ideas arising.

Member Checking

Member checking enhanced the accuracy and consistency of the data collection process. The member checking process entails requiring the participants to review summaries and provide feedback before the data analysis process begins (Lincoln & Gupta, 1985). The process of member checking ensured that the data was credible, and the themes represent the true nature of the participant's perceptions. The case study protocol assisted me to maintain a strong focus and allow other researchers to view steps taken in collecting data. The case study protocol; further, could assist subsequent investigators to hold an understanding of decisions made in the data collection and analysis process, which substantiate the reliability and credibility of the study findings (Elo et al., 2014).

Validity

Yilmaz (2013) and Marshall and Rossman (2016) asserted participants validate research when; a) believing the results are correct or credible; b) when the methods used are transferable, and c) when the findings align with the conceptual framework. Houghton, Murphy, Shaw, and Casey (2015) suggested respondent validation occurs when study participants review findings and confirm the results reflect the participants' intended meaning shared during the interview process. Through member checking, members verify the interpretation of responses to the interview questions.

Triangulation is another process for ensuring validity (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011).

Data triangulation refers to the comparison of data from multiple data sources. In the proposed study, data will originate from the use of semistructured interviews, fieldwork observations, and

workplace documents, such as meeting notes, to ensure the trustworthiness of the data.

Behavioral healthcare leaders with different levels of experience and computer technology skills influenced his or her responses to the questions. Selecting behavioral healthcare leaders with differing experiential backgrounds provided a broad description of perceptions that strengthened the study's validity.

Credibility

A feature that enables others to understand the experiences through the interpretation of a participant and refers to ensuring rigor throughout the research process (Ravenek & Rudman, 2013; Morse, 2015). Credibility occurs by; a) adopting triangulation of the data to include interviews, b) by achieving data saturation; and c) by utilizing the member checking technique. I asked the first two study participants to review the narrative summary of the findings and offer an opinion as to the accuracy of the data interpretation. The participants agreed to offer corrections to the account should he or she notice errors. The quality of the data in the proposed study depends upon the participants' views to illustrate what factors influenced the adoption of the EHR system (Parker, 2014).

I limited engagement with the participants in the study to maintain separation of researcher bias from the research process (Patterson & Morin, 2012). Depicting only the opinions of the study contributors is significant to ensure segregation of my personal bias from infiltrating the research process. Otherwise, my pre-conceived feelings from working in the environment could unintentionally affect the findings in the study. The member checking process; therefore, is a vital element to ensure the behavior health care participants' views are accurate.

Transferability

Morse (2015) suggested transferability is the extent to which the findings of an inquiry may apply in other contexts or with other subjects. Transferability could allow other researchers to identify other areas of investigation that propagated from reviewing data analytic procedures (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I documented data collection protocols, procedures, and interviewing strategies, such that other researchers may consider the decisions, implications, and validations to other investigations (Houghton, Murphy, Shaw, & Casey, 2015).

Confirmability

Ravenek and Rudman (2013) claimed confirmability refers to the idea that data should represent a view of the findings and not the researcher's bias. Confirmability occurs when the auditor confirms findings (Yilmaz, 2013). I used the ATLAS.ti qualitative data software to perform code frequency and co-occurrence analyses. ATLAS.ti marked information as case nodes associating coded passages to contextual themes (Woods et al., 2015). Many categories and themes emerged from multiple data sources gathered from information pertaining to how behavioral healthcare managers felt as to the adoption of an EHR system. The process assisted me in maintaining objectivity by correlating the analytical process close to the data.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative case study is to identify strategies that healthcare managers working in a chemical dependency treatment facility located in the U.S. Midwest, used to move from a paper documentation platform to an EHR system. Five behavioral healthcare managers were interviewed to constitute a purposeful sample and provide in-depth knowledge to the phenomenon under exploration. Adoption of the informed consent process assisted me in protecting the participant's confidentiality and provided a means for them to withdraw from the

research at any time without penalty. In the next section, I have identified the themes and strategies that morphed from my study, recommendations for further research, and my reflections from my research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, exploratory, single case study was to identify strategies that managers in a Midwestern U.S. chemical dependency treatment facility used to successfully adopt an EHR system. I used the TAM theory by Davis (1989) to guide the direction of the study. The specific business problem is that some behavioral healthcare managers are unable to identify which strategies to use to successfully adopt EHR systems. Healthcare managers may use the results of this study to overcome barriers when implementing EHR systems. Behavioral healthcare managers may use findings from this study to identify strategies to implement EHRs to improve efficiency, communication, workflow, cost, and the quality of patient care services. The findings may also contribute to the existing knowledge regarding organizational management practices for successful EHR system design and implementation. The results may assist behavioral healthcare managers to exhibit positive characteristics such as providing exceptional judgement, motivating staff, and fostering engagement to achieve workforce efficiency (Chalofsky & Cavallaro, 2013; Twenge, & Donnelly, 2016). Finally, implementing an EHR system may improve the accessibility and retrievability, real-time availability, and confidentiality of patient records across the organization.

Presentation of Findings

The overarching research question for this study was "What strategies do behavioral healthcare managers use to support the implementation of an EHR system?" Examination of the primary study's research question formulated three themes (a) effortlessness use (b) adoption efficiency, and (c) transformational leadership behavior. The use of the ATLAS.ti software and the modified van Kaam method (Moustakas, 1994) provided the assistance I needed in

identifying the codes, which supported the relevant themes and strategies of the study when reflecting on the data collected from five participants. Three themes and eight strategies were identified during this data analysis process.

The findings of this study may contribute to the existing knowledge regarding leadership practices for successful EHR system implementation. The case study was conducted at a chemical dependency facility in the Midwestern United States, but the results are applicable to other chemical dependency treatment facilities. Data were collected and analyzed from semistructured interviews, review of notes, and review of company policies using the modified van Kaam method. The themes in this research involve both social and technical aspects of effective EHR implementation. Three themes emerged: effortlessness of use, adoption efficiency, and transformational leadership behavior.

Theme 1: Effortlessness of Use

One of the most studied characteristics of technology is an individual's PEOU.

According to Davis (1989), the user expects the use of the technology system to be effortless.

The general agreement is that technology acceptance increases when the PEOU increases (Davis, 1989; Wahab, Shamsuddin, Abdullah, & Hamid, 2016). PEOU has also become the sole determinant to the prediction of intention to use (Ma & Chan, 2014). PEOU increases individuals' intentions to use online services only when the consumers do not have access to concerns regarding security information (Chang et al., 2012).

Related to Theme 1, participants described their experiences regarding EHR systems and ease of use. The total counts for codes related to strategies of (a) improved scheduling (b) improved data analytics and reporting, and (c) improved patient care and communication, which was relevant for this interview question under investigation (see Table 1).

Effortlessness of Use

Table 1

Participant	Scheduling	Accurate assessments	Improve patient care and communication
Doution out 1	1 /	7	2
Participant 1	14	11	<u> </u>
Participant 2	10	11	4
Participant 3	10	11	4
Participant 4	8	11	2
Participant 5	1	1	1
Total	43	41	13

Participant 2 agreed that the EHR system is easy to use and said, "It is very well put together so that a person who is not real familiar with different systems or doesn't have much experience with computers can get on the EHR and begin scheduling patients very quickly by themselves." Participant 4 showed that Therasoft is an easy system to use because "I do not have to decipher someone's handwriting." The contributor could pull the information that she needs with ease. When working on an assessment, she could retrieve the previous assessment and have that information populate into the new assessment, which made updating information and tracking client visits easier.

Conversely, Participant 5 stated that the Practice Fusion system is a generic system and does not believe the system is tailored to use easily. This contributor had a difficult integration process and worked to determine how to circumvent system inadequacies when he "identified the system's shortcomings and how to bypass them" (Participant 5). In some cases, he needed to return to paper charting (Participant 5). Although both systems are fairly straight forward, participants agreed that utilizing one system versus two would increase acceptance.

Strategy 1: Improved scheduling. Scheduling problems occur when patients arrive and the clinic resources (staff, exam rooms, and providers) are not available to serve them (Hribar, Brown, Reznick, & Cheang, 2017). The mismatch of arrivals and availability can increase patients' wait time (Gupta, 2008). Improving efficiency of outpatient clinics is challenging in the face of increased patient loads, decreased reimbursements, and potential negative productivity impacts of using EHR systems (Hribar et al., 2017). However, EHR systems provide the platform to schedule appointments for doctor visits and to complete assessments (Participant 3).

Participant 3 agreed the Practice Fusion System was the preferred software for recording physician's notes and suggested "The doctors enter their notes in the system so schedulers could book future appointments." Although Participant 1 does not use everything both systems has to offer, they did suggest that Practice Fusion provides benefits to adoption of EHR as ease of use in scheduling and communicating with physicians about patient care all without much effort. Another benefit of adopting EHR was that when clients returned to the office for group or individual sessions, scheduling was easier because data was easily visible. The adoption of Practice Fusion was self-explanatory, and the process flow was easy to understand. Participant 3 stated, "The system will not let you make a mistake, because it will stop you; however, Therasoft is not as user-friendly to me." The primary use of the EHR is to enter new patient data, such as patient demographic and insurance information. Then, counselors can record patient assessments and treatment plans, for example. For returning clients, patient service representatives check in clients in the system, which alters staff members of the arrival. Participant 3 found that physicians seemed to favor Practice Fusion and were not interested in learning Therasoft.

Strategy 2: Improved data analytics and reporting. The implementation of EHR has transformed the healthcare industry from paper-based to electronic-based clinical transactions

(Jones et al., 2014). During the last decade, providers have been encouraged to implement EHR systems and use them to capture and share data to control quality and cost (Payne et al., 2015). There is a focus on designing and implementing a way to make systems increase in quality, efficiency, and safety (Payne et al., 2015). The EHR provides vast and complete health information of patients necessary in the delivery of quality healthcare (Huerta et al., 2016).

Patient care coordinators benefit by retrieving accurate data and allows them to complete the intake process faster. The data are also more reliable because the systems allow clients to access the Therasoft portal through the hospital's website and record their information in advance of their visit. Participant 3 suggested that "with clients entering their data, there is less room for error." Further, the EHR system collects and secures data faster and more accurately.

Additionally, Practice Fusion EHR system has been helpful from a medical and legal perspective when completing information online in a template format avoided the risk of overlooking data in a paper system. The system keeps a more thorough and comprehensive record of the patent encounter and gaining access to information is easy. Moreover, Participant 5 noted that EHR aids administration from a regulatory perspective because insurance companies require documenting steps methodologically for every encounter.

Strategy 3: Improved patient care and communications. Communication is important between providers who share care of a patient (Payne et al., 2012). All EHRs have message screens or boxed to facilitate communication between providers. Some messages that might need communicated are lab results, physician orders, appointments, provider request, and medication request.

Patient care has improved with the EHR system because care is coordinated and streamlined and more efficient because "everything is right there (Participant 2), which makes a

caregiver's work responsibilities easier to document and keep current, allowing counselors and physicians more time to spend with direct patient care. Participant 4 does not have to slow down and write things down, because EHRs allow them to type the information directly into the system. The flow is easy to memorize, meaning Participant 4 knows the questions clients will answer and making data entry easy to navigate.

Reviewing previous notes before the client arrives for their appointment also helps with continuity of care. Treatment plans and goals are available to review based on the patient's current condition. Participant 2 suggested, "I do not have to grab a chart every time. EHR saves time and decreases an employee's stress, which allows us to be more attentive to clients."

Further, Participant 3 stated that client care has improved since the adoption of the EHR system because patients receive faster service and better coordination of care. The time-saving opportunity allows physicians and counselors to spend more time serving patients. Moving to the EHR allows staff members more time to have normal conversations with patients. Participant 4 also suggested "patients are more comfortable when they feel that they are having a conversation rather than being interviewed."

Theme 2: Adoption Efficiency

Hospital information systems and EHRs are prerequisites for the efficient delivery of high-quality healthcare in hospitals (Nguyen et al., 2014). EHRs are convenient, portable and efficient, reduce clerical records, and support computerized decisions. The purpose of EHRs is to document and communicate patient information and conditions between the interdisciplinary team within and outside an organization (Mandl, 2014) and improve the quality of care (Nguyen et al., 2014). EHRs are an enabling technology that allows physician practices to pursue meaningful use tools, which significantly improves patient and provider convenience compared

with paper-based records (Singh & Sittig, 2016). EHR systems have improved quality, efficiency, and patient-centeredness of care among healthcare facilities (Koh, Brach, Harris, & Parchman, 2013). This is what led to Presidents Bush and Obama supporting the goal to increase the use of technology and the implementation of EHR systems (Clarke et al., 2014).

This theme related to participants describing experiences or situations that described how client care changed since adoption of the EHR system. Examination of data led to total counts for codes relating to the strategies of (a) functionality, and (b) improved performance, which was relevant for this interview question under investigation (see Table 2).

Table 2

Adoption Efficiency

	Two Systems	Improved Performance Workflow	Remote Access
Participant 1	20	2	1
Participant 2	1	4	1
Participant 3	14	0	0
Participant 4	19	4	0
Participant 5	30	0	1
Total	84	10	3

Participant 1's hospital system changed to an EHR system mainly because it is required, with the belief that all around efficiency would improve for the counselors and physicians and make it easier for managers to monitor staff's performance and improving patient care. Good implementation practices showed that retrieving patient information is more efficient and allows for faster access than in a paper chart. Participant 1 stated, "EHR allows the clinician to spend more time with their clients." Workflow also improved when moving from paper to EHR. Ease of quickly accessing documented information and reading notes decreased stress, especially in

critical situations (Participant 2). Participant 3 believed that nothing hindered performance during the transition from paper to EHR, and she was happy to transition to EHR.

Strategy 1: Improved performance—Workflow. Data security, data quality enrichment, personal comfort with security, efficiency, and personal importance of confidentiality are factors influencing the implementation of EHR systems (Alkadi, 2016). Healthcare providers have experienced numerous benefits when adopting an EHR system (Singh & Sittig, 2016). Workers have noted improved efficiency, productivity, and workflow. They have also realized improved patient care, coordination of care of patients with other providers, and improved ability to detect medication errors.

The EHR system is also efficient. Practice Fusion EHR system helps improve workflow. Staff members can access patient encounters quickly with the click of a button instead of fishing through physical documents. Employees can populate certain actions that are repetitive, so "you do not have to reproduce the same information over and over again manually" (Participant 5). Participant 4 agreed that she would prepare the chart before the patient arrived requiring the employee to fill out papers with the client's information. If the client canceled the appointment, the employee would destroy the chart. Now, with the EHR, the employee deletes the record from the system and reschedules the appointment. The EHR system keeps track of all appointments so recording the reason for cancellation is fast compared to searching through papers to locate the dates and reason for missed appointments.

Strategy 2: Improved performance—Remote access. Having remote access to medical records allows physicians and healthcare workers to look at a patient's medical history. With the appropriate program, a physician and healthcare worker can check labs, schedules, and medical history. Because EHR systems store information in various areas, using one with a single login

helps simplify the process (Vawdrey, Walsh, & Stetson, 2014). This is an important consideration when picking an EHR system for a practice.

The flexibility is essential for planning and organizing work especially for people who aim to maintain a work/life balance when traveling to the office is not always possible.

Participant 4 can remote-in to the system application to schedule, change, or cancel appointments from home as well as view upcoming appointments and place reminder calls to patients. Without this system, Participant 4 would have to rely on others to gather information, such as the client's current contact information or prescription information, which was sometimes difficult to track because of information changes frequently. With EHRs, if a client needs medication refills called to their current preferred pharmacy, the information is readily available. The EHR contains required information to access government and pharmaceutical website, such as the Ohio Automated Rx Reporting System.

Strategy 3: Two systems. Many healthcare facilities have begun to use more than one EHR system in their organization (Payne et al., 2012). The organizations that use and support EHRs realize that to safely and efficiently use more than one EHR, a considerable amount of IT work will be necessary (Payne et al., 2012). Thorough understanding of the challenges in using more than one EMR is an important prerequisite to minimize the risks of using more than one EMR to care for patients in a single healthcare organization.

Participant 5 acknowledged their use of two EHR systems, Practice Fusion, and Therasoft, with a focus to allow physicians and clinicians to document patient medical encounters from start to finish through subjective, objective, assessment, and plan standardized methodology, but slanted towards medical addiction management. EHR stores a record of

everything encompassed in the diagnosis and treatment of patients to include subjective complaints, objective findings, physical findings, lab test, assessments, and treatment plans.

Therasoft EHR improved the time and accuracy of recording information to complete assessments, treatment plans, and individual plans, which is easy to use for most processes. The counselors leave messages for the doctors about their clients in Practice Fusion, which helps the continuity of care. EHR is better because the system saves time and helps ensure data accuracy. People do not have to try and decipher another person's handwriting. Participant 1 admitted that the organization began with 2 EHR systems until Therasoft is fine tuned to meet te organization's needs.

Before EHR implementation, office, and professional staff used paper charts to document assessments, treatment plans, and group notes. Using a paper chart, clinicians had to print treatment plans and decipher another person's writing sometimes causing a problem in providing a new course of action. Participant 4 noted, "things sometimes were missed." Participant 4 also purported that "using a computer was better because I type pretty fast and don't have to worry about my handwriting not being legible."

Theme 3: Transformational Leadership Behavior

An association exists between leadership styles and employee performance. The leadership styles could indicate the type of employees who excel in an organization. Highly motivated employees working in competitive companies have leaders who value and recognize one's contribution to the business. Effective leaders exhibit positive characteristics, such as providing exceptional judgment, motivating staff, and fostering engagement to achieve workforce efficiency (Chalofsky & Cavallaro, 2013; Twenge, & Donnelly, 2016).

The research topic explored with this theme was to have the participants described positive leadership strategies transitioning from paper to electronic records. Examination of data included in the qualitative case study gained attention as I reviewed the total counts for codes relating to the strategies of (a) managing personnel and (b) employee performance and engagement, which proved relevant for this interview question under investigation (see Table 3).

Table 3

Transformational Leadership Behavior

	Transformational Leadership	Engagement
Participant #1	15	2
Participant #2	7	1
Participant #3	7	2
Participant #4	11	0
Participant #5	1	0
Total	41	5

Initially, managers had to monitor staff even closer before EHR implementation to ensure job duties were on track, causing an increase in frustration for the managers. Managers needed to provide extensive training for some individuals, which was a very time-consuming initiative.

Participant 1 stated, "She enjoyed using an EHR system" and acknowledged EHR is a good way to ensure the staff is providing patient care according to organizational and regulatory regulations.

Strategy 1: Managing personnel with positive human resource practices. García-cl, Jiménez-Barrionuevo, and Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez (2012) examined the association between leadership and performance and confirmed that leadership is a driving force in the performance of an organization. An affirmative level of accomplishment regarding staffing, training, performance assessment, and system of compensation led to positive leadership behaviors

(Cianci, Hannah, Roberts, & Tsakumis, 2014). García-Morales et al. (2012) claimed that leaders translate a vision to one's subordinates and influence employees' commitment, motivation, and trust, which enhance organizational performance.

Participant 1 demonstrated that leadership behaviors changed, and staff performance improved when the healthcare facilities moved from primarily paper processes to an EHR system. Managers monitor staff performance more objectively, and employees do not feel micromanaged. Timely feedback, both positive and negative, was a true administrative benefit for adopting the system (Participant 1). As far as improving worker performance, Participant 4 stated: "EHR helps me to work efficiently because initially, it took more than 2-hours to complete an assessment, and now the time is cut in half because writing things down on paper takes more time." Participant 2 stated that using transformational leadership style allows the managers to attend to their employees' needs. Kamal and Kamal (2014) stated that listening and learning what is valuable to the employee and communicating appreciation allows the employee to focus more on the job

Strategy 2: Transformational employee performance and engagement. Hoch and Kozlowski (2014) purported that effective leadership is a management strategy used to improve business performance. Positioned are effective leaders who provide working norms that uphold collective actions. Leuty and Hansen (2014) provided insight on the value of leadership on team performance. Strategies that employ leadership behavior that improve human resource and development achieve optimum results (Twenge & Donnelly, 2016). Employee performance improvement directly correlates with the ease of using the EHR system (Participant 2). EHR provided more job satisfaction for the managers who now have more time to review staff

performance and guide employees, while they make sure the organization is staying in compliance with the regulatory agencies.

The findings of this study may contribute to the existing knowledge regarding leadership practices for successful EHR system implementation. The case study was conducted at a chemical dependency facility in the Midwestern United States, but the results are applicable to other chemical dependency treatment facilities. The themes in this research involve both social and technical aspects of effective EHR implementation. The study included the following themes: (a) effortlessness of use; (b) adoption efficiency; and (c) transformational leadership behavior. They may provide additional knowledge into the barriers concerning the introduction of EHR systems into healthcare. Heart et al. (2017) asserted successfully adopted EHRs have the potential to increase ease of use, adoption efficiency, and use of transitional leadership behavior.

Healthcare managers may use the results of this study to overcome barriers when implementing EHR systems. The findings of this study will add and contribute to the existing knowledge regarding organizational management practices for successful EHR system design and implementation. When successfully adopted, EHRs have the potential to increase workplace efficiency, increase the quality of patient care, and reduce expenses for the hospital or health care facility (Heart et al., 2017).

Application to Professional Practice

Findings in this study have significant applications to professional practice that are relevant to behavioral healthcare managers. The findings of this study could be useful in determining how efficiently EHR systems can be implemented. The following strategies could be utilized when implementing an EHR system: (a) improved scheduling (b) improved data analytics and reporting (c) improved patient care and communications (d) improved performance

- workflow (e) improved performance – remote access (f) managing personnel with positive HR practices and (g) transformational employee performance and engagement. The strategies may assist behavioral healthcare managers to exhibit positive characteristics such as providing exceptional judgement, motivating staff, and fostering engagement to achieve workforce efficiency (Chalofsky & Cavallaro, 2013; Twenge, & Donnelly, 2016). The findings may also be useful in determining how to improve efficiency, communication, workflow, cost, and the quality of patient care services.

The specific business problem is that some behavioral healthcare managers are unable to identify which strategies to use to successfully adopt EHR systems. Properly utilizing an EHR is a strategy that can improve scheduling and communication with healthcare managers about patient care all without much effort. Electronic Health Record systems provide a platform to schedule appointments for doctor visits and to complete assessments. The system makes it easier to schedule appointments for clients returning to the office for groups and individual sessions. Healthcare professionals can enter their progress notes in the system so schedulers can book future appointments.

Another strategy that can be applied to professional practice is the ability to access patient encounters quickly with the click of a button instead of fishing through physical documents. Certain repetitive actions can be populated into the system in order to save time and energy. The EHR system will keep track of all appointments made or cancelled. The EHR can record the reason for cancellation in compared to searching through papers to locate the dates and reason for missed appointments.

Lastly, managing personnel with positive human resource practices. Leadership is a driving force in the performance of an organization (Cianci, Hannah, Roberts, & Tsakumis,

2014). An affirmative level of accomplishment regarding staffing, training, performance assessment, and system of compensation led to positive leadership behaviors. García-Morales et al. (2012) claimed that leaders translate a vision to one's subordinates and influence employees' commitment, motivation, and trust, which enhance organizational performance.

Implications for Social Change

The results of this study may assist behavioral healthcare managers to increase the quality of care through a better understanding of how best to implement EHR systems. By contributing to the body of knowledge regarding EHR adoption, I hope that my study assists behavioral healthcare managers in being better prepared to manage EHR systems. Increased EHR adoption allows better access to patient records in order to make better decisions regarding patient care (Ajami & Lamoochi, 2014; Valentino, 2016).

Davis (1989) asserted that business leaders can affect the business environment when they acquire the knowledge to implement a renowned software solution to provide timely, patient-centered information in a secure web environment; thereby improving patient outcomes. There are potential social benefits from the global implementation of EHRs, such as assisting physicians and health professionals, who are geographically isolated, in obtaining patient records (Ajami & Lamoochi, 2014). The implications regarding tangible improvements to individuals, communities, organizations, institutions, and cultures could affect social change and behavior pattern for behavioral healthcare managers and community residents. The adoption of EHR systems by behavioral healthcare managers might contribute to society by enhancing interaction among healthcare professionals and patients. EHR systems could help behavioral healthcare providers make efficient, effective decisions regarding patient care through (a) improved aggregation (b) analysis, and (c) communication of patient information (Liebovitz (2013).

Behavioral healthcare managers and their staff may be able to (a) communicate electronically with healthcare providers and patients (b) submit prescription renewals (c) retrieve health management information (d) effective scheduling (e) locate medical records without difficulty and (f) review and track health summary information and test results, allowing for enhanced decision making regarding treatment.

Recommendations for Action

The results of the study are relevant to behavioral healthcare managers who want to improve the quality of service they provide, reduce healthcare cost, and facilitate smooth EHR implementation. These recommendations may apply to various health care providers and might assist with EHR implementation. Researchers may use each of the themes identified to conduct research studies. Three themes emerged from my research: (a) effortlessness of use (b) adoption efficiency, and (c) transformational leadership behavior. Based on the study findings and themes, I recommend the following actions for behavioral healthcare managers:

- Create an EHR committee to develop a change management workflow to coordinate EHR
 implementation process and phases from initiation to completion, with the aim of
 improving organizational efficiency, responsiveness and profitability.
- Include all levels of management and staff in the development of the change management workflow process. Each stage of system changes needs to have collaboration from each discipline affected.
- 3. Research different EHRs, select a vendor, and install a system based on the practice needs, including interoperability.
- 4. Provide ongoing training to EHR users.
- 5. Plan for IT and EHR technical support for the EHR users.

- 6. Allow time for the behavioral healthcare managers, physicians, and staff to adapt and learn how to use the EHR system.
- 7. EHR managers should evaluate their management style and consider using transformational leadership to help guide the change management workflow process.

Recommendations for Further Research

Future researchers could replicate this study with a larger sample group of behavioral healthcare managers in other geographical locations in the United States The behavioral health care industry is continuously changing and growing. Katerndahl et al. (2015), asserted that health care systems are complex organizations that consist of components with competing values and varying levels of individual experiences of change. Future researchers could potentially uncover implementation strategies that may help behavioral healthcare managers improve patient care by improving the accuracy and clarity of medical records. I found three themes during this study that are worthy of further research. Also, researchers could focus case studies on different types of health care facilities that have adopted EHRs. Other types of studies could include observing people using EHR systems. A limitation noted in this study involved the use of the single case study design and biased opinion of the subjects.

Reflections

The Doctor of Business Administration Program at Walden University required dedication and hard work. The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to identify strategies that behavioral healthcare manager's use to successfully adopt EHR systems to improve performance. After working in the healthcare field for many years, I formed an opinion about EHR systems. I believed EHR systems were more efficient than paper records. This study reinforced my opinion. However, I did not let my opinion influence the participants' opinion. I

used self-reflexivity before beginning the data collection to mitigate biases. In the research, the thoughts and experiences of participants illuminated from semistructured, open-ended interviews in the participant's natural setting, which aligns with a qualitative approach. Interviewing participants gave me a better understanding of the EHR implementation process. After the study was completed, I discovered the behavioral health managers were interested in identifying the gaps from the implementation of EHR systems and how to improve the process of effectively integrating them into their practice.

Conclusion

The findings of this research study included the following themes: (a) effortlessness of use; (b) adoption efficiency; and (c) transformational leadership behavior. Theme 1 and theme 2 both confirmed the TAM conceptual framework. Organizational strategies and training are ways to assist behavioral healthcare managers in the EHR implementation process (Heorbst & Schweitzer, 2015). They provided additional knowledge into the barriers concerning the introduction of EHR systems into healthcare. Heart et al. (2017) found that successfully adopted EHRs have the potential to increase ease of use, adoption efficiency, and use of transitional leadership behavior. The findings of this research study included the following strategies: (a) improved scheduling; (b) improved data analytics and reporting; (c) improved patient care and communications; (d) improved performance - workflow; (e) improved performance - remote access; (f) managing personnel with positive HR practices; and (g) transformational employee performance and engagement.

The results of this study are relevant to behavioral healthcare managers who want to improve the quality of service they provide, reduce healthcare cost, and facilitate smooth EHR implementation. The results of this study indicated behavioral healthcare managers should

consider developing and implementing strategies to implement EHRs in their practices. Leaders of other health organizations may use the results of this study to overcome barriers when implementing EHR systems. The findings of this study will add and contribute to the existing knowledge regarding organizational management practices for successful EHR system design and implementation. When successfully adopted, EHRs have the potential to increase workplace efficiency, increase the quality of patient care, and reduce expenses for the hospital or health care facility (Heart et al., 2017).

Using transformational leadership allowed workers to feel connected to their organization. Using a transformational leadership style allowed managers to attend to their employees' needs. Listening and learning what is valuable to the employees and communicating appreciation allowed employees to focus more on the job. Transformational leadership inspired team members because they expected the best from everyone, and they held themselves accountable for their actions.

References

- Abdekhoda, M., Ahmadi, M., Gohari, M., & Noruzi, A. (2015). The effects of organizational contextual factors on physicians' attitude toward adoption of Electronic Medical Records. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 53, 174-179. doi:10.1016/j.jbi.2014.10.008
- Abu-Nahleh, I. I. (2013). The role of leadership theories in information technology acceptance:

 Case study at Al-Kikma Pharmaceutical Company. *Journal of Computer Science and Information Technology*, 1, 33-40. doi:10.15640/jcsit
- Achimugu, P., Selamat, A., Ibrahim, R., & Mahrin, M. N. R. (2014). A systematic literature review of software requirements prioritization research. *Information and Software Technology*, *56*, 568-585. doi:10.1016/j.infsof.2014.02.001
- Adel, E., El-Sappagh, S., Barakat, S., & Elmogy, M. (2018). Distributed electronic health record based on semantic interoperability using fuzzy ontology: A survey. *International Journal of Computers and Applications*, 40(4), 223-241. doi:10.1080/1206212X.2017.1418237
- Adler-Milstein, J., & Jha, A. K. (2017). HITECH Act drove large gains in hospital electronic health record adoption. *Health Affairs*, *36*, 1416-1422. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1651
- Adler-Milstein, J., DesRoches, C. M., Kralovec, P., Foster, G., Worzala, C., Charles, D., . . . Jha, A. K. (2015). Electronic health record adoption in US hospitals: Progress continues, but challenges persist. *Health Affairs*, *34*, 2174-2180. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0992
- Aggelidis, V. P., & Chatzoglou, P. D. (2012). Hospital information systems: Measuring end user computing satisfaction (EUCS). *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, *45*, 566-579. doi:10.1016/j.jbi.2012.02.009
- Ajami, S., & Lamoochi, P. (2014). Use of telemedicine in disaster and remote places. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, *3*, 26. doi:10.4103/2277-9531.131886

- Alkadi, S. H. (2016). The healthcare system in Saudi Arabia and its challenges: Case of diabetes care pathway. *Journal of Health Informatics in Developing Countries*, 10(1) 1-29.

 Retrieved from http://jhidc.org/index.php/jhidc/index
- Alkahtani, A. H. (2015). The influence of leadership styles on organizational commitment:

 Moderating effect of emotional intelligence. *Business and Management Studies*, *2*(1), 23-34.doi:10.11114/bms.v2i1.1091
- Aluwihare-Samaranayake, D. (2012). Ethics in qualitative research: A view of the participants' and researchers' world from a critical standpoint. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11, 64-81. doi:10.1177/160940691201100208
- Anderson, V. R. (2015). Introduction to mixed methods approaches. *Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Handbook of Methodological Approaches to Community-Based Research*, 233-242. doi:10.1093/med:psych/9780190243654.003.0023
- Baskerville, R. L., & Wood-Harper, A. T. (2016). A critical perspective on action research as a method for information systems research. *Enacting Research Methods in Information Systems*, *2*, 169-190. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-29269-4_7
- Bellavance, E. C., & Alexander, H. (2012). Ethical considerations in clinical research. *Annals of Surgical Oncology, 19*, 355-356. doi:10.1245/s10434-011-2143-z
- Bennington, A., & Minutolo, M. (2013). Intent to be a socially responsible small or medium-sized enterprise: Theory of planned behavior and leaders actualizing. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 3 (1), 1-8. doi:10.5539/jms.v3n1p1
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open*, 2, 8-14. doi:10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Bentley, T., Rizer, M., McAlearney, A. S., Mekhjian, H., Siedler, M., Sharp, K., . . . Huerta, T.

- (2016). The journey from precontemplation to action: Transitioning between electronic medical record systems. *Health care Management Review*, *41*, 22-31. doi:10.1097/HMR.0000000000000001
- Bere, A. (2014). An application of UTAUT. *The Eleventh International Conference on Information Technology: New Generations*. Exploring determinants for mobile learning user acceptance and use, 84-90. doi:10.1109/itng.2014.114
- Bhattacharya, S. (2014). Institutional review board and international field research in conflict zones. *Political Science & Politics*, *47*, 840-844. doi:10.1017/S1049096514001140
- Boblin, S. L., Ireland, S., Kirkpatrick, H., & Robertson, K. (2013). Using Stake's qualitative case study approach to explore implementation of evidence-based Electronic medical records:

 A path forward practice. *Qualitative Health Research*. Advance on-line publication.

 doi:10.1177/1049732313502128
- Block, L., Cook, B., Hanyok, L., de la Torre, D., Rogers, M., Noronha, G., & Sylvia, M. (2014).

 Coverage isn't enough: Building primary care capacity in the setting of health reform. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, 25*, 25-28.

 doi:10.1353/hpu.2014.0046
- Blumenthal, S., Castro, V., Clements, C., Rosenfield, H., Murphy, S., Fava, M., & Perlis, R. (2014). An electronic health records study of long-term weight gain following antidepressant use. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 71, 889-896. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.414
- Cao, Y., Lu, Y., Gupta, S., & Yang, S. (2014). The effects of differences between e–commerce and m–commerce on the consumers' usage transfer from online to mobile channel. *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, *13*, 51-70. doi:10.1504/IJMC.2015.065890

- Calisir, F., Gumussoy, C. A., Bayraktaroglu, A. E., & Karaali, D. (2014). Predicting the intention to use a web-based learning system: Perceived content quality, anxiety, perceived system quality, image, and the technology acceptance model. *Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing & Service Industries*, 24, 515-531. doi.org/10.1002/hfm.20548
- Campbell, J. I., Aturinda, I., Mwesigwa, E., Burns, B., Haberer, J. E., Bangsberg, D. R., & Siedner, M. J. (2017). The technology acceptance model for resource-limited settings (TAM-RLS): A novel framework for mobile health interventions targeted to low-literacy end-users in resource-limited settings. *AIDS and Behavior*, 1-12. doi:10.1007/s10461-017-1765-y
- Carnes, M., Bartels, C. M., Kaatz, A., & Kolehmainen, C. (2015). Why is John more likely to become department chair than Jennifer? *Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association*, *126*, 197-214. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4530686/
- Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2012). Medicare fee-for-service provider resources.

 Retrieved from https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/

 Legislation/EHRIncentivePrograms/Downloads/FAQs_Oct_2012.pdf
- Chalofsky, N., & Cavallaro, L. (2013). A good living versus a good life meaning, purpose, and HRD. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, *15*, 331-340. doi:10.1177/1523422313498560
- Chen, J., & Chen, I. (2013). Don't worry, I'm with you: Can visionary leadership release neurotic employees for more perceived innovative interactions? *Innovation:*Management, Policy & Practice, 15, 215-223. doi:10.5172/impp.2013.15.2.215
- Chen, Y., & Xu, H. (2013). Privacy management in dynamic groups: Understanding information

- privacy in medical practices. *Proceedings of the 2013 Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, 541-552. doi:10.1145/2441776.2441837
- Cheng, S. Y., Tsai, M. T., Cheng, N. C., & Chen, K. S. (2012). Predicting intention to purchase on group buying website in Taiwan: Virtual community, critical mass and risk. *Online Information Review*, *36*, 698-712. doi:10.1108/14684521211275984
- Chun, J., & Bafford, A. C. (2014). History and background of quality measurement. *Clinics in Colon and Rectal Surgery*, *27*(1), 5-9. doi:10.1001/jama.1987.03400070074038
- Chiba, D., Johnson, J. C., & Leeds, B. A. (2015). Careful commitments: democratic states and alliance design. *Journal of Politics*, 77, 968-982. doi:10.1086/682074
- Cianci, A. M., Hannah, S. T., Roberts, R. P., & Tsakumis, G. T. (2014). The effects of authentic leadership on followers' ethical decision-making in the face of temptation: An experimental study. *Leadership Quarterly*, *25*, 581-594. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.12.001
- Clandinin, D. (2016). Engaging in Narrative Inquiry. New York: Routledge, https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315429618
- Clarke, M. A., Steege, L. M., Moore, J. L., Koopman, R. J., Belden, J. L., & Kim, M. S. (2014).

 Determining primary care physician information needs to inform ambulatory visit note display. *Applied Clinical Informatics* 5, 169-190. doi:10.4338/ACI-2013-08-RA-0064
- Cridland, E. K., Jones, S. C., Caputi, P., & Magee, C. A. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semi-structured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, 40(1), 78-91. doi:10.3109/13668250.2014.964191
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*,

- 21, 19-27. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Cutler, D. M., & Morton, F. S. (2013). Hospitals, market share, and consolidation. *JAMA*, *310*, 1964-1970. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.281675
- Davis, F. D. (1986). Technology Acceptance Model for empirically testing new end-user information systems: Theory and results. (Doctoral dissertation). MIT Sloan School of Management, Cambridge, MA.
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology, *MIS Quarterly 13*, 319-340. doi:10.2307/249008
- DesRoches, C. (2015). Progress and challenges in electronic health record adoption: findings from a national survey of physicians. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *162*, 396-3961.

 Retrieved from http://annals.org/aim
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). *Introduction: Disciplining the practice of qualitative research*. The SAGE handbook of qualitative research (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- de Veer, A. J., Francke, A. L., Struijs, A., & Willems, D. L. (2013). Determinants of moral distress in daily nursing practice: A cross sectional correlational questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *50*, 100-108. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.08.017
- Doody, O., & Doody, C. M. (2015). Conducting a pilot study: Case study of a novice researcher.

 *British Journal of Nursing, 24, 1074-1078. Retrieved from http://www.magonlinelibrary.com/toc/bjon/current
- Ducey, A. J., & Coovert, M. D. (2016). Predicting tablet computer use: An extended Technology Acceptance Model for physicians. *Health Policy and Technology*, *5*, 268-284.

- doi:1016/j.hlpt.2016.03.010
- Dullabh, P. M., Sondheimer, N. K., Katsh, E., & Evans, M. A. (2014). How patients can improve the accuracy of their medical records. *eGEMs*, *2*(3) Article 10. doi:10.13063/2327-9214.1080
- Elliott, P., Martin, D., & Neville, D. (2014). Electronic clinical safety reporting system: A benefits evaluation. *JMIR Medical Informatics, Jan-June*; *2*(1) e12. doi:10.2196/medinform.3316
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014). Qualitative content analysis. *Sage Open*, *4*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Fade, S., Swift, J. (2011). Qualitative research in nutrition and dietetics: data analysis issues.

 **Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics, 24, 106–114. doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2010.01118.x*
- Fashola, A. K., Akanni, A. A., & Ajila, C. O. (2016). Leadership style and perceived organizational politics as Predictors of organizational commitment among civil servants in Osun State. *Journal of Asian Development*, 2(2), 33-47. doi:10.5296/jad.v2i2.10042
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (2011). *Predicting and changing behavior: The reasoned action approach*. New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Fleming, N. S., Becker, E. R., Culler, S. D., Cheng, D., McCorkle, R., Graca, B. D., & Ballard,
 D. J. (2014). The impact of electronic health records on workflow and financial measures
 in primary care practices. *Health Services Research*, 49, 405-420. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12133
- Flick, U., & Röhnsch, G. (2014). Migrating diseases: Triangulating approaches—applying qualitative inquiry as a global endeavor. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20, 1096-1109.

- doi:10.1177/1077800414543694
- Fong, C. M., Mulok, F. L. M., & Sumilan, H. (2015). Relationship between selected leadership style and employee stress level at workplace. *Journal of Cognitive Sciences & Human Development*, *1*(1), 11-21. http://publisher.unimas.my/ojs/index.php/JCSHD/index
- Friedman, D. J., Parrish, R. G., & Ross, D. A. (2013). Electronic health records and US public health: Current realities and future promise. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*, 1560-1567. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301220
- Furukawa, M. F., King, J., Patel, V., Hsiao, C. J., Adler-Milstein, J., & Jha, A. K. (2014).

 Despite substantial progress in EHR adoption, health information exchange and patient engagement remain low in office settings. *Health Affairs*, 33, 1-5.

 doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0445
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408–1416. Retrieved from http://tgr.nova.edu/
- Francis, J., Johnston, M., Robertson, C., Glidewell, L., Entwistle, V., Eccles, M., & Grimshaw, J. (2010). What is an adequate sample size? Operationalizing data saturation for theorybased interview studies. *Psychology and Health*, *25*, 1229-1245. doi:10.1080/08870440903194015
- Gagnon, M. P., Ghandour, E. K., Talla, P. K., Simonyan, D., Godin, G., Labrecque, M., ...& Rousseau, M. (2014). Electronic health record acceptance by physicians: Testing an integrated theoretical model. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 48, 17-27. doi:10.1016/j.jbi.2013.10.010
- García-Morales, V. J., Jiménez-Barrionuevo, M. M., & Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez, L. (2012).

 Transformational leadership influence on organizational performance through

- organizational learning and innovation. *Journal of Business Research*, *65*, 1040-1050. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.03.005
- Gergen, K. J., Josselson, R., & Freeman, M. (2015). The promises of qualitative inquiry. *American Psychologist*, 70, 1-9. doi:10.1037/a0038597
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Chicago, IL: Aline.
- Gonzalez, J. E., Pollard-Durodola, S., Simmons, D. C., Taylor, A. B., Davis, M. J., Fogarty, M., & Simmons, L. (2014). Enhancing preschool children's vocabulary: Effects of teacher talk before, during and after shared reading. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 29, 214-226. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.11.001
- Gostin, L. O., & Hodge, J. G. (2017). Reforming federal public health powers: Responding to national and global threats. *Jama*, *317*, 1211-1212. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.1021
- Gottlieb, L. M., Tirozzi, K. J., Manchanda, R., Burns, A. R., & Sandel, M. T. (2015). Moving electronic medical records upstream: incorporating social determinants of health. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *48*, 215-218. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.07.009
- Gossett, K., Padgett, J., Pierce, S., and Scott, J. (2019). Complex Adaptive System's Theory and The Tau Conceptual Framework for Understanding Healthcare and Human Services in the United States. *Journal of Academic Perspectives*, 2019(2), 1-28. Retrieved from https://www.journalofacademicperspectives.com/back-issues/volume-2019/volume-2019-no-2/
- Gregoire, M. B., & Arendt, S. W. (2014). Leadership: Reflections over the past 100 years. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 114, (Supplemental Issue) 10-

- 19. doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2014.02.023
- Gunawan, D. D., & Huarng, K. H. (2015). Viral effects of social network and media on consumers' purchase intention. *Journal of Business Research*, 68, 2237-2241. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.06.004
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & De Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: when to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*, 498-501. doi:10.1093/humrep/dev334\
- Haahr, A., Norlyk, A., & Hall, E. O. (2014). Ethical challenges embedded in qualitative research interviews with close relatives. *Nursing Ethics, 21,* 6-15. doi:10.1177/0969733013486370
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy? *Qualitative Report*, 17, 510-517. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Henry, J., Pylypchuk, Y., Searcy, T., & Patel, V. (2016). Adoption of electronic health record systems among US non-federal acute care hospitals: 2008-2015. *ONC Data Brief*, *35*, 1-9.
- Heart, T., Ben-Assuli, O., & Shabtai, I. (2017). A review of PHR, EMR and EHR integration: A more personalized healthcare and public health policy. Health Policy and Technology, 6, 20-25. doi:10.1016/j.hlpt.2016.08.002
- Hickie, I., Mcgorry, P., Davenport, T., Rosenberg, S., Mendoza, J., Burns, J., Christensen, H.
 (2014). Getting mental health reform back on track: A leadership challenge for the new
 Australian Government. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 200, 445-448.
 doi:10.5694/mja13.11207
- Hogan, H., Healey, F., Neale, G., Thomson, R., Vincent, C., & Black, N. (2014). Relationship

- between preventable hospital deaths and other measures of safety: An exploratory study. International Journal for Quality in Health Care, 26, 298-307. doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzu049
- Hoch, J. E., & Kozlowski, S. W. (2014). Leading virtual teams: Hierarchical leadership, structural supports, and shared team leadership. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99, 390-403. doi:10.1037/a0030264
- Howard, J., Clark, E. C., Friedman, A., Crosson, J. C., Pellerano, M., Crabtree, B. F., ... & Cohen, D. J. (2013). Electronic health record impact on work burden in small, unaffiliated, community-based primary care practices. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 28, 107-113. doi:10.2196/jmir.2130
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., & Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis:

 An example from practice. *Nurse researcher*, *22*, 8-12. doi:10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307
- Hsiao, C. J., Jha, A. K., King, J., Patel, V., Furukawa, M. F., & Mostashari, F. (2013). Office-based physicians are responding to incentives and assistance by adopting and using electronic health records. *Health Affairs*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0323
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606

- Jackson, W. J., Paterson, A. S., Pong, C. K., & Scarparo, S. (2014). Cash limits, hospital prescribing and shrinking medical jurisdiction. *Financial Accountability & Management*, 30, 403-429. doi:10.1111/faam.12042
- Jan, A., & Contreras, V. (2011). Technology acceptance model for the use of information technology in universities. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27, 845-851. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2010.11.009
- Jarvis, B., Johnson, T., Butler, P., O 'Shaughnessy, K., Fullam, F., Tran, L., & Gupta, R. (2013).
 Assessing the impact of electronic health records as an enabler of hospital quality and patient satisfaction. *Academic Medicine*, 88, 1471-1477.
 doi:10.1097/acm.0b013e3182a36cab
- Jha, A., & Pronovost, P. (2016). Toward a safer health care system: The critical need to improve measurement. *Jama*, *315*, 1831-1832. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.3448
- Joo, Y. J., Lim, K. Y., & Kim, N. H. (2016). The effects of secondary teachers' technostress on the intention to use technology in South Korea. *Computers & Education*, 95, 114-122. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2015.12.004
- Jones, S. S., Rudin, R. S., Perry, T., & Shekelle, P. G. (2014). Health information technology: an updated systematic review with a focus on meaningful use. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *160*, 48-54. doi:10.7326/M13-1531
- Jouin, M., Gouriveau, R., Hissel, D., Péra, M. C., & Zerhouni, N. (2016). Degradations analysis and aging modeling for health assessment and prognostics of PEMFC. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, *148*, 78-95. doi:10.1016/j.ress.2015.12.003
- Judkins-Cohn, T., Kielwasser-Withrow, K., Owen, M., & Ward, J. (2014). Ethical principles of informed consent: Exploring nurses' dual role of care provider and researcher. *Journal of*

- Continuing Education in Nursing, 45, 35-42. doi:10.3928/0022012420131223-03
- Justinia, T. (2014). Software-assisted transcribing for qualitative interviews: Practical Guidelines. *Enhancing Qualitative and Mixed Methods Research with Technology*, 10, 231-254. doi:10.4018/978-1-4666-6493-7.ch010
- Kamal, S., & Kamal, S. (2014). Destiny school of business: Will leadership flaws 137 continue to reduce employee morale? *IOSR Journal of Business Management*, 16 (6), 117–119. doi:10.9790/487x-1661117119
- Kellerman, A. (2014). The satisfaction of human needs in physical and virtual spaces. *The Professional Geographer*, *66*, 538-546. doI:10.1080/00330124.2013.848760
- King, E., & Nesbit, P. (2015). Collusion with denial: Leadership development and its evaluation. *Journal of Management Development*, 34, 134-152. doi:10.1108/JMD-02-2013-0023
- King, J., Patel, V., Jamoom, E. W., & Furukawa, M. F. (2014). Clinical benefits of electronic health record use: National findings. *Health services research*, 49(1pt2), 392-404. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12135
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *44*, 536-543. doi:10.1111/bjet.12049
- Khanal, S., Rissel, C., & Lloyd, B. (2016). Using a competition model to help rural communities become healthier: Lessons from the NSW Healthy Town Challenge quality assurance process. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 27, 178-179. doi.org/10.1071/HE15119
- Koch, L. C., Niesz, T., & McCarthy, H. (2014). Understanding and reporting qualitative research: An analytical review and recommendations for submitting authors.

- Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin, 57, 131-143. doi:10.1177/0034355213502549
- Koh, H. K., Brach, C., Harris, L. M., & Parchman, M. L. (2013). A proposed health literate care model would constitute a systems approach to improving patients' engagement in care. *Health Affairs*, *32*, 357-367. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1205
- Kushniruk, A., Bates, D., Bainbridge, M., Househ, M., & Borycki, E. (2013). National efforts to improve health information system safety in Canada, the United States of America and England. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 82, 149-160. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.12.006
- Kuziemsky, C. E., Monkman, H., Petersen, C., Weber, J., Borycki, E. M., ...& Collins, S.
 (2014). Big data in healthcare: Defining the digital persona through user contexts from the micro to the macro: Contribution of the IMIA organizational and social issues
 WG. Yearbook of Medical Informatics, 9, 82-89. doi:10.15265/IY-2014-0014
- Lapierre, L., Naidoo, L., & Bonaccio, S. (2012). Leaders' relational self-concept and followers' task performance: Implications for mentoring provided to followers. *Leadership Quarterly*, 23, 766-774. doi:10.1016/jleaqua.2012.01.001
- Lawrence, J., & Tar, U. (2013). The use of grounded theory technique as a practical tool for qualitative data collection and analysis. *Electronic Journal of Business Research*Methods, 11, 29-40. Retrieved from http://ejbrm.com/main.html
- Leuty, M. E., & Hansen, J. I. C. (2014). Teasing apart the relations between age, birth cohort, and vocational interests. *Journal of counseling psychology*, *61*, 289-298. doi:10.1037/a0035341
- Liebovitz, D. (2013). Meaningful EHR attributes for an era of accountability, transparency, shared decision making, and value assessment. *Journal of Legal Medicine*, *34*(1), 43-53.

doi:10.1080/01947648.2013.768145

- Lincoln, Y., & Gupta, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Lofland, J., & Lofland, L. (1984). Analyzing social settings: A guide to qualitative observation and analysis (2nd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Mandl, K. D. (2014). Ebola in the United States: EHRs as a public health tool at the point of care. *Journal of American Medical Association*, *31*, 2499-2500. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.15064
- Marbach, E. (2013). Towards a phenomenological analysis of fictional intentionality and reference. *International Journal of Philosophical Studies*, *21*, 428-447. doi:10.1080/09672559.2013.801631
- Margolis, A. R., Martin, B. A., & Mott, D. A. (2016). Trained student pharmacists' telephonic collection of patient medication information: Evaluation of a structured interview tool. *Journal of the American Pharmacists Association: JAPhA*, *56*, 153-160. doi:10.1016/j.japh.2015.12.008
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in is research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*, 11-22. doi:10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ma, W. W., & Chan, A. (2014). Knowledge sharing and social media: Altruism, perceived online attachment motivation, and perceived online relationship commitment. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *39*, 51-58. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.06.015
- Merat, A., & Bo, D. (2013). Strategic analysis of knowledge firms: The Links between

- knowledge management and leadership. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *17*, 3-15. doi:1108/13673271311300697
- Merriam, S. B. (2014). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Middleton, B., Bloomrosen, M., Dente, M. A., Hashmat, B., Koppel, R., Overhage, J. M., ... & Zhang, J. (2013). Enhancing patient safety and quality of care by improving the usability of electronic health record systems: Recommendations from AMIA. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 20(e1), e2-e8. doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001458
- Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont Report: The triple crown of research ethics. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *35*(4), 223-228. doi:10.1097/DCC.0000000000000186
- Mitchell, G. (2013). Selecting the best theory to implement planned change: Improving the workplace requires staff to be involved and innovations to be maintained. Gary Mitchell discusses the theories that can help achieve this. *Nursing Management*, 20(1), 32-37. doi:10.7748/nm2013.04.20.1.32.e1013
- Moll, S. (2012). Navigating political minefields: Partnerships in organizational cast study research. *Work*, 43, 5-12. doi:10.3233/wor-2012-1442
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative health research*, *25*, 1212-1222. doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Mouakket, S., & Al-hawari, M. A. (2012). Investigating the factors affecting university students' e-loyalty intention towards the Blackboard system. *International Journal of Business Information Systems*, 9, 239-260. doi:10.1504/IJBIS.2012.045717

- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Nguyen, L., Bellucci, E., & Nguyen, L. T. (2014). Electronic health records implementation: An evaluation of information system impact and contingency factors. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 83, 779-796. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.06.011
- Najaftorkaman, M., Ghapanchi, A. H., Talaei □ Khoei, A., & Ray, P. (2015). A taxonomy of antecedents to user adoption of health information systems: A synthesis of thirty years of research. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 66, 576-598. doi:10.1002/asi.23181
- Noblin, A., Cortelyou-Ward, K., Cantiello, J., Breyer, T., Oliveira, L., Dangiolo, M., ... & Berman, S. (2013). EHR implementation in a new clinic: A case study of clinician perceptions. *Journal of Medical Systems*, *37*(4), Article 9955. doi:10.1007/s10916-013-9955-2
- Ostrom, E. (2014). Do institutions for collective action evolve? *Journal of Bioeconomics*, *16*, 3-30. doi:10.1007/s10818-013-9154-8
- Ozok, A. A., Wu, H., Garrido, M., Pronovost, P. J., & Gurses, A. P. (2014). Usability and perceived usefulness of personal health records for preventive health care: A case study focusing on patients' and primary care providers' perspectives. *Applied ergonomics*, *45*, 613-628. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2013.09.005
- Parker, L. (2014). Qualitative perspectives: Through a methodological lens. *Qualitative Research* in *Accounting & Management*, 11, 13-28. doi:1108/QRAM-02-2014-0013
- Parker, N., & O'Reilly, M. (2013). We are alone in the house: A case study addressing researchers safety and risk. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 10, 341-354. doi:10.1080/14780887.2011.647261

- Partridge, S. R., Grunseit, A. C., Gallagher, P., Freeman, B., O'Hara, B. J., Neubeck, L., ... & Phongsavan, P. (2017). Cardiac Patients' Experiences and Perceptions of Social Media:
 Mixed-Methods Study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(9), e323.
 doi:10.2196/jmir.8081
- Patterson, B., & Morin, K. (2012). Methodological considerations for studying social processes.

 Nurse Researcher, 20(1), 33-38. doi:10.7748/nr2012.09.20.1.33.c9306
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Payne, T. H., Corley, S., Cullen, T. A., Gandhi, T. K., Harrington, L., Kuperman, G. J., ... & Tierney, W. M. (2015). Report of the AMIA EHR-2020 Task Force on the status and future direction of EHRs. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 2, 1102-1110. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocv066
- Porterfield, A., Engelbert, K., & Coustasse, A. (2014). Electronic prescribing: improving the efficiency and accuracy of prescribing in the ambulatory care setting. *Perspectives in Health Information Management*, 11(Spring). Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/journals/486/
- Pawar, C. S., Patil, P. R., & Chaudhari, S. V. (2014). Providing security and integrity for data stored in cloud storage. In *Information Communication and Embedded Systems (ICICES)*, 2014 International Conference on (pp. 1-5). IEEE. doi:10.1109/ICICES.2014.7033968
- Quant, Q., Sanchez-Algarra, P., & Anguera, M. (2013). Qualitative/quantitative integration in the inductive observational study of interactive behavior: Impact of recording predominating perspectives. *Science & Business*, 47, 1237-1257. doi:10.1007/s11135-012-9764-6
- Raghupathi, W., & Raghupathi, V. (2014). Big data analytics in healthcare: Promise and

- potential. Health Information Science and Systems, 2(1), 1-3. doi:10.1186/2047-2501-2-3
- Ralston, D. A., Egri, C. P., Karam, C. M., Naoumova, I., Srinivasan, N., Casado, T., ... & Alas,
 R. (2015). The triple-bottom-line of corporate responsibility: Assessing the attitudes of present and future business professionals across the BRICs. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 32(1), 145-179. doi:10.1007/s10490-014-9376-x
- Rashid, M., Caine, V., & Goez, H. (2015). The encounters and challenges of ethnography as a methodology in health research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *14*(5), 1-16. doi:10.1177/1609406915621421
- Ravenek, M. J., & Rudman, D. L. (2013). Bridging conceptions of quality in moments of qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 12, 436-456. doi:10.1177/160940691301200122
- Renko, M., El Tarabishy, A., Carsrud, A. L., & Brännback, M. (2015). Understanding and measuring entrepreneurial leadership style. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *53*, 54-74. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12086
- Renny, R., Guritno, S., & Siringoringo, H. (2016). Peer review: Perceived usefulness, ease of use, and attitude towards online shopping usefulness towards online airlines ticket purchase. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *81*, 212-216. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.415
- Riaz, M. N., & Khalili, M. T. (2014). Transformational, transactional leadership and rational decision making in services providing organizations: Moderating role of knowledge management processes. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, 8, 355-364.

 Retrieved from http://jespk.net
- Rieder, B., Abdulla, R., Poell, T., Woltering, R., & Zack, L. (2015). Data critique and analytical

- opportunities for very large Facebook Pages: Lessons learned from exploring "We are all Khaled Said". *Big Data & Society*, 2(2), 1-22. doi:10.1177/2053951715614980
- Rippen, H. E., Pan, E. C., Russell, C., Byrne, C. M., & Swift, E. K. (2013). Organizational framework for health information technology. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 82, e1-13. doi:10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.01.012
- Roth, C. J., Lannum, L. M., Dennison, D. K., & Towbin, A. J. (2016). The current state and path forward for enterprise image viewing: HIMSS-SIIM collaborative white paper. *Journal of Digital Imaging*, *29*, 567-573. doi:10.1007/s10278-016-9887-8
- Rowold, J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Extending the transformational-transactional leadership paradigm. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, *28*(3), 367-390. doi:10.1688ZfP-2014-03-Rowold
- Rubin, H., &Rubin, I. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage.
- Sidani, S., Collins, L., Harbman, P., MacMillan, K., Reeves, S., Hurlock□Chorostecki, C., & Soeren, M. (2014). Development of a measure to assess healthcare providers' implementation of patient□centered care. *Worldviews on Evidence□Based Nursing*, 11, 248-257. doi:10.1111/wvn.12047
- Schäffler, F., Müller, M., Huppert, D., Brandt, T., Tiffe, T., & Grill, E. (2014). Consequences of visual height intolerance for quality of life: A qualitative study. *Quality of Life Research*, 23, 697–705. doi:10.1007/s11136-013-0506-6
- Schuh, S. C., Zhang, X. A., & Tian, P. (2013). For the good or the bad? Interactive effects of transformational leadership with moral and authoritarian leadership behaviors. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *116*, 629-640. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1486-0

- Shrestha, S., Dave, A. J., Losina, E., & Katz, J. N. (2016). Diagnostic accuracy of administrative data algorithm's in the diagnosis of osteoarthritis: A systematic review. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, *16*, 1-15. doi:10.1186/s12911-016-0319-y
- Singh, H., & Sittig, D. F. (2016). Measuring and improving patient safety through health information technology: The Health IT Safety Framework. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 25, 226-232. doi:1136/bmjqs-2015-004486
- Sinkovics, R. R., & Alfoldi, E. A. (2012). Progressive focusing and trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Management International Review*, *52*, 817-845. doi:10.1007/s11575-012-0140-5
- Skinner, H. G., Calancie, L., Vu, M. B., Garcia, B., DeMarco, M., Patterson, C., ... & Schisler, J. C. (2015). Using community-based participatory research principles to develop more understandable recruitment and informed consent documents in genomic research. *PloS one*, *10*(5), e0125466. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125466
- Snyder, C. (2012). A case study of a case study: Analysis of a robust qualitative research methodology. *Qualitative Report*, *17*(13), 1-21. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Stake, R. (1996). The art of case study research. London, United Kingdom: Sage.
- Steinbrook, R. (2009). Health care and the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *360*, 1057-1060. doi:10.1056/NEJMp0900665#t=article
- Swensen, S. J., Duncan, J. R., Gibson, R., Muething, S. E., LeBuhn, R., Rexford, J., ... & Santa, J. (2014). An appeal for safe and appropriate imaging of children. *Journal of Patient Safety*, *10*, 121-124. doi:10.1097/PTS.0000000000000116
- Shurbagi, A., & bin Zahari, I. (2012). The relationship between transformational leadership, job

- satisfaction and the effect of organizational culture in national oil corporations of Libya. *International Journal of Business Administration*, *4*, *26-34*. doi:10.5430/ijba.v4n4p26
- Strauss, A. L. (1987). *Qualitative analysis for social scientists*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Tchuigoua, H. T. (2014). Institutional framework and capital structure of microfinance institutions. *Journal of Business Research*, *67*, 2185-2197. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.01.008
- Teo, T., & Noyes, J. (2014). Explaining the intention to use technology among pre-service teachers: A multi-group analysis of the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 22, 51-66. doi:10.1080/10494820.2011.641674
- Till, A., Jones, P., & McKimm, J. (2015). Medical leadership and management: An international revolution. *Journal of Health Specialties*, *3*(3), 139-143. doi:10.4103/1658-600x.159888
- Turner, P., Kane, R., & Jackson, C. (2015). Combining methods to research an emergency department: A case study. *British Journal of Healthcare Management*, 21(2), 81-85. doi:10.12968/bjhc.2015.21.2.81
- Twenge, J. M., & Donnelly, K. (2016). Generational differences in American students' reasons for going to college, 1971–2014: The rise of extrinsic motives. *Journal of Social Psychology*, 0/0, 1-10. doi:10.1080/00224545.2016.1152214
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, *15*, 398-405. doi:10.1111/nhs.12048
- van Prooijen, J. W., & de Vries, R. E. (2016). Organizational conspiracy beliefs: Implications for

- leadership styles and employee outcomes. *Journal of business and psychology*, *31*, 479-491. doi:10.1007/s10869-015-9428-3
- Van Puyvelde, S., Caers, R., Du Bois, C., & Jegers, M. (2016). Managerial objectives and the governance of public and non-profit organizations. *Public Management Review*, *18*, 221-237. doi:10.1002/nml.21081
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS quarterly*, *37*, 21-54. Retrieved from http://misq.org
- Wahab, S., Rahmat, A., Yusof, M. S., & Mohamed, B. (2016). Organization performance and leadership style: Issues in education service. *Procedia-Social & Behavioral Sciences*, 224, 593-598. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.447
- Wahab, E., Shamsuddin, A., Abdullah, N. H., & Hamid, N. A. (2016). Users' satisfaction and return on investment (ROI) for online database library databases: A Malaysian technical university perspective. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 219, 777-783. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.075
- Weiss, C. H., & Nunes Amaral, L. A. (2013). Envisioning sophisticated electronic health records through the lens of health care reform. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 188, 636-638. doi:10.1164/rccm.201304-0615ED
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2015). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS). Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS. ti and NVivo, 1994–2013. *Social Science Computer Review*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1177/0894439315596311
- Wong, L. (2013). The relationship of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, perceived

- enjoyment, and perceived trust toward behavioral intention to use mobile check-in for airlines service and the mediating role of attitude (Doctoral dissertation, University Malaysia Sabah). Retrieved from http://eprints.ums.edu.my/8953
- Yang, Z., Kankanhalli, A., Ng, B. Y., & Lim, J. T. Y. (2015). Examining the pre-adoption stages of healthcare IT: A case study of vital signs monitoring systems. *Information & Management*, *52*, 454-467. doi:10.1016/j.im.2015.01.007
- Yaprak, E., & Intepeler, S. S. (2015). Factors affecting the attitudes of health care professionals toward medical errors in a public hospital in Turkey. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 8, 647-655. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofcaringsciences.org/
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The qualitative report*, 20(2), 134-152. Retrieved from https://tqr.nova.edu/journals
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:
 Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48, 311-325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: *Design and method* (6th ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Yousafzai, S. Y., Saeed, S., & Muffatto, M. (2015). Institutional theory and contextual embeddedness of women's entrepreneurial leadership: Evidence from 92 countries. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *53*, 587-604. doi/10.1111/jsbm.12179/full

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- Create a folder for each participant (folder to include letter of introduction, informed consent, and copy of interview questions).
- 2. Attend the management meetings to solicit volunteer participants for the study. Set up interviews for appropriate date and time.
- 3. Arrive at the designated location 10 minutes prior to the scheduled time.
- 4. Advise each participant that the interview contains eight questions and will last one hour or less in length.
- 5. Advise participant that the researcher will take notes and record with an audio recorder
- 6. Review the purpose of the study with participant.
- 7. Reinforce that participant may stop the interview at any time, the interview is confidential, and to ask for clarification as needed.
- 8. Review informed consent with participant.
- 9. Answer any questions the participant may have
- 10. Receive signed informed consent form.
- 11. Assign a number to the participant.
- 12. Provide privacy and comfort.
- 13. Take notes on the interview template.
- 14. Transcribe notes.
- 15. Have participants sign interview notes for validation after transcription is complete.
- 16. Place interview notes into each participants folder.
- 17. Enter information in the Atlas.ti software program.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. Based on your perceptions and experiences, describe the ways in which the electronic health record system facilitated your work with your clients?
- 2. Based on your perceptions and experiences, describe the ways in which the electronic health record system hindered your work with your clients?
- 3. Now that you have worked with the electronic health record system, based on your perceptions and experiences, tell me how you feel about using the system?
- 4. Based on your perceptions and experiences, summarize the top three factors that would be most helpful when transitioning from a paper charting system to an electronic health record system in a chemical dependency treatment facility?
- 5. Based on your perceptions and experiences, what were the barriers or challenges when transitioning from a paper charting system to an electronic health record system in a chemical dependency treatment facility?
- 6. Based on your perceptions and experiences, describe how client care has changed since electronic health record system was introduced?
- 7. Looking back at the overall change process involved with electronic health record system, based on your perceptions and experiences, tell me what you would advise leaders to do when planning and implementing this change?
- 8. Based on your perceptions and experiences, describe the characteristics and behaviors exhibited by leaders that you believed facilitated transitioning from paper to electronic records?

9. Based on your perceptions and experiences describe the characteristics and behaviors exhibited by leaders that you believed hindered transitioning from paper to electronic records?

Appendix C: CITI Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative

